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Nasdaq: ATRO 

 

We serve the world’s aerospace, defense, 

and other mission-critical industries with 

proven, innovative technology solutions.  

We work side-by-side with customers, 

integrating our array of power, connectivity, 

lighting, structures, interiors and test 

technologies to solve complex challenges.  

For over 50 years, we have delivered 

creative, customer-focused solutions with 

exceptional responsiveness. Today, global 

airframe manufacturers, airlines, military 

branches, completion centers and Fortune 

500 companies rely on our collaborative spirit  

and innovation to deliver leading technology 

and solutions.   
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Dear Shareholders, 

2019 was a year of significant transition and progress for our Company.  We accomplished a lot and felt at the 

end of the year that we were well positioned for 2020.  But 2020 is turning out to be something unexpected, which 

is discussed at the end of this letter. 

2019 Review 

2019 had measurable forward progress in both our segments.  Our Test business was significantly rearranged, 

while our Aerospace segment saw a concentrated focus on resolving issues with our “three challenged 

businesses.” 

As for the rearrangement of our Test segment, in February 2019, we sold our semiconductor test product line for 

$104 million resulting in a pre-tax gain of $80 million.  By divesting the business, we put the technology in the 

hands of another company that can further its adoption for the benefit of its customers and employees.  It was a 

transaction which we believe turned out well for all involved. 

The transaction significantly downsized our Test footprint, but also allowed us to focus on our core market and 

explore other opportunities for growth.  One promising pursuit is the mass transit market involving trains and 

subways, which are becoming more integrated and digitized.  Operators are looking to implement test regimes 

that are similar to those that are practiced in the aerospace and defense industry, so we believe our skillset is 

increasingly applicable in this market.  Our first significant mass transit win was with New York City for a $30 

million program.  And late in 2019 we acquired Diagnosys, a Boston-based test company, focused on the transit 

space, to broaden our resources and capabilities.  We have a number of pursuits in process and are hopeful that 

mass transit test will be a noteworthy contributor to our results in the immediate future. 

We also made progress furthering our pursuit of the radio test market, geared at the sophisticated communication 

devices used by military forces and civilian first responder organizations such as police forces and fire 

departments.  We have long been focused on the military market, but supplemented our efforts with the 

acquisition mid-year of Freedom Communications Technologies, which focuses on the civilian market.  Combined 

we are a stronger operation. 

In our Aerospace segment, we resolved our challenges with our “three struggling business,” such that the 

cumulative operating loss of $32.7 million that they realized in 2019, excluding restructuring and impairment 

charges, will trend towards break-even in 2020. 

This was partially accomplished by a physical relocation in Chicago of three separate facilities into two.  We also 

finally completed the development phase of our new cabin management system for large business jets called 

Avenir, which turned out to be a much more expensive development program than we originally expected.  

Finally, late in the year, we restructured our antenna business significantly, downsizing the operation and 

narrowing its focus.  The antenna restructuring came with write-offs and reserves of $34 million, but these actions 

collectively are expected to largely eliminate the operating losses at the struggling businesses, reducing the 

margin headwinds we have seen in the Aerospace segment in the recent past.    

For the year, consolidated revenue declined from $803 million to $773 million, driven largely by the decline in 

semiconductor test sales of $75 million due to the sale of that business.  Adjusted for the semiconductor sale*, 

revenue grew 6.1% in 2019. 

Net income was $52 million, or $1.60 per diluted share, and benefited from the gain on the sale of the 

semiconductor business.  Adjusted Net Income* was 3.9% of sales after backing out the effects of the 

semiconductor sale, a legal reserve for ongoing litigation, and write-offs associated with the antenna restructuring. 

It was an eventful year in which much was accomplished, and we ended it feeling we were well prepared for the 

future. 

 



 

 

The Astronics Board of Directors 

Our Board also saw significant changes during the year.   

Sadly, we lost two members, John Drenning and Kevin Keane, both of whom joined our board in 1970.  John was 

our corporate counsel and drafted many of the Company’s foundational documents.  Kevin led the Company as 

CEO from 1974 to 2003 and Chairman from 1974 to 2019.  The two were great friends and they have left an 

indelible mark on our Company.  We will always remember their enthusiasm and support.  

We also welcomed two new members during the year, Tonit Calaway and Robert Keane.  They both bring strong 

skills and broad experience to our board and have hit the ground running.  Our Board now consists of nine 

people, six of whom have served fewer than five years, and represents a healthy combination of fresh 

perspectives, tenured industry expertise, and long-term Company familiarity. 

2020 Coronavirus  

Unfortunately, 2020 has seen the onset of COVID-19, with significant ramifications for our Company, our industry, 

and the world.  As I write this, much of the world is in lockdown, many countries have closed their borders, and 

the airline industry is suffering significant losses.   

We are encouraged that national governments around the world recognize the importance of the aerospace 

industry and are taking steps to preserve and support it.  We hope for a quick recovery, but the reality is that 

nobody knows how badly the industry will be damaged, nor what a recovery will look like. 

We have taken aggressive steps in response to the situation including shoring up cash reserves, cutting capital 

spending, suspending acquisition initiatives and share buybacks, and adjusting our capacity to align with where 

we expect demand to settle out.   

But, we are aiming at moving targets today and there are many unknowns.  Astronics will stay flexible and 

focused as the situation develops, responding appropriately to events as they unfold. 

We have built a great Company with an impressive array of capabilities that our customers rely on every day.  We 

have products on just about every aircraft that flies.  We know that the virus will pass and the world will keep 

turning, and our goal is to emerge from this episode a stronger organization with even better opportunities -- 

tested and hardened by the experience.  Our 2,500 team members are committed to this goal, and I am confident 

of success.    

Sincerely,  

 

. 

 

 

Peter J. Gundermann 

President and CEO 

April 6, 2020 

  



 

 

*RECONCILIATION OF GAAP TO NON-GAAP PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

The Company’s letter to shareholders contains financial information regarding consolidated sales and net income 

adjusted to remove the direct effects of the semiconductor business, the legal reserve increase, the antenna 

business restructuring and impairment charges and the impairment of an equity investment from all periods 

presented.  These adjusted balances are non-GAAP performance measures.  Management believes these non-

GAAP measures are useful to investors in understanding the performance of the ongoing business. 

 

(Unaudited, $ in thousands) 

Consolidated 

  Year Ended 

  12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

Sales     

Consolidated sales  $ 772,702    $ 803,256   
Non-GAAP Adjustment - Semiconductor 
business** 

 
(9,692)  

 
(84,254)  

Adjusted Consolidated Sales  $ 763,010    $ 719,002   
     
Income from Operations     

Consolidated income from operations  
$ 1,701    

$ 63,663   

Non-GAAP Adjustments:     

Semiconductor business**  (6,753)   (24,109)  
Legal reserve increase  19,619    1,000   

Antenna business impairment and 
restructuring 

 
28,836   

 
—   

Adjusted Income from Operations  $ 43,403    $ 40,554   
  5.7  %  5.6  % 

Net Income     

Consolidated net income  $ 52,017    $ 46,803   
Non-GAAP Adjustments:     

Semiconductor business**  (65,666)   (18,014)  
Legal reserve increase  15,485    789   

Antenna business impairment and 
restructuring 

 
22,780   

 
—   

Equity investment impairment  5,000    —   
Adjusted Net Income  $ 29,616    $ 29,578   
         
GAAP depreciation and amortization  $ 33,049    $ 35,032   

 
** The non-GAAP adjustment eliminates all semiconductor test sales and associated direct costs from all periods 
presented.  There are significant indirect costs, overheads, and other general and administrative costs that are 
not included in the non-GAAP adjustment, as such functions benefited all operations and products within the Test 
Systems segment and have not been eliminated as a result of the divestiture.  The non-GAAP adjustment to net 
income for the year ended December 31, 2019 also eliminates the impact of the gain on the sale of the 
semiconductor business, net of tax.  

  



 

 

 

  

FIVE-YEAR PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

(in thousands, except employee and per share data)

PERFORMANCE 2017 2016 2015

Sales:

Aerospace Segment $ 692,614 $ 675,744 $ 534,724 $ 534,408 $ 549,738

Less Aerospace Intersegment Sales $ (5) $ (119) $ (121) $ (367) $ ---

Test Systems Segment $ 80,495 $ 127,679 $ 89,861 $ 99,082 $ 142,596

Less Test Intersegment Sales $ (402) $ (48) $ --- $ --- $ (55)

Total Sales $ 772,702 $ 803,256 $ 624,464 $ 633,123 $ 692,279

Gross Profit $ 156,142 $ 180,696 $ 137,113 $ 159,467 $ 187,942

Gross Margin 20.2 % 22.5 % 22.0 % 25.2 % 27.1 %

Impairment Loss $ 11,083      $ --- $ 16,237 $ --- $ ---

Selling, General and Administrative Expense $ 143,358 $ 117,033 $ 90,516 $ 86,328 $ 89,141

Operating Profit $ 1,701 $ 63,663 $ 30,360 $ 73,139 $ 98,801

Operating Margin 0.2 % 7.9 % 4.9 % 11.6 % 14.3 %

Net Gain on Sale of Businesses $ 78,801 $ --- $ --- $ --- $ ---

Other Expense $ 6,058 $ 1,671 $ 1,741 $ 1,743 $ ---

Net Income $ 52,017 $ 46,803 $ 19,679 $ 48,424 $ 66,974

Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 1.60 $ 1.41 $ 0.58 $ 1.40 $ 1.93

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Diluted 32,459 33,136 33,718 34,537 34,706

Return on Average Shareholders' Equity 13.4% 13.1 % 5.9 % 15.2 % 25.3 %

YEAR END FINANCIAL POSITION

Total Assets $ 782,716 $ 774,640 $ 735,956 $ 604,344 $ 609,243

Indebtedness $ 188,224 $ 233,982 $ 271,767 $ 148,120 $ 169,789

Shareholders' Equity $ 388,857 $ 386,625 $ 329,927 $ 337,449 $ 300,225

Book Value Per Share $ 12.54 $ 11.86 $ 10.22 $ 10.13 $ 8.93

OTHER YEAR END DATA

Depreciation and Amortization $ 33,049 $ 35,032 $ 27,063 $ 25,790 $ 25,309

Capital Expenditures $ 12,083 $ 16,317 $ 13,478 $ 13,037 $ 18,641

Shares Outstanding 30,999 32,593 32,269 33,328 33,635

Number of Employees 2,828 2,690 2,516 2,304 2,304

2019 2018



 

 

2019 SALES BY MARKETS, PRODUCTS AND MAJOR FOCUS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FIVE-YEAR PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHT 

 

 

($ in thousands)           
MARKETS         

Aerospace Segment 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Commercial Transport $523,921  $536,269  $414,523  $435,552  $455,569  

Military  76,542  68,138  61,270  54,556  43,295  

Business Jet 67,541  43,090  41,298  25,407  32,796  

Other 24,605  28,128  17,512  18,526  18,078  

Aerospace Total 692,609  675,625  534,603  534,041  549,738  

Test Systems Segment           

Semiconductor 9,692  84,254  31,999  37,939  92,136  

Aerospace & Defense 70,401  43,377  57,862  61,143  50,405  

Test Systems Total 80,093  127,631  89,861  99,082  142,541  

TOTAL $772,702  $803,256  $624,464  $633,123  $692,279  

PRODUCTS        

Aerospace Segment 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Electrical Power & Motion $338,237  $303,180  $264,286  $288,465  $279,752  

Lighting & Safety 185,462  174,383  158,663  156,871  157,143  

Avionics 106,787  131,849  53,960  32,761  56,150  

Systems Certification 14,401  13,951  14,333  16,531  21,317 

Structures 23,117  24,134  25,849  20,887  16,372  

Other 24,605  28,128  17,512  18,526  19,004  

Aerospace Total 692,609  675,625  534,603  534,041  549,738  

Test Systems Segment           

Semiconductor 9,692  84,254  31,999  37,939  92,136  

Aerospace & Defense 70,401  43,377  57,862  61,143  50,405  

Test Systems Total 80,093  127,631  89,861  99,082  142,541  

TOTAL $772,702  $803,256  $624,464  $633,123  $692,279  

SALES BY MARKETS   

In Flight 
Entertainment & 

Connectivity
50%Lighting & 

Safety
24%

Test
10%

All Other
12%

Flight Critical
Electrical Power 4%

SALES BY PRODUCTS   SALES BY MAJOR FOCUS   

Commercial 
Transport

68%
Military

10%
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10%
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The following graph and table shows the performance of the Company’s common stock compared with the S&P 500 Index — 
Total Return and the NASDAQ US and Foreign Companies for a $100 investment made December 31, 2014:

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Astronics Corp. Return % — (15.99) (1.75) 22.55 (13.30) (8.21)
Cum $ 100.00 84.01 82.53 101.14 87.69 80.49

S&P 500 Index - Total Returns Return % — 1.38 11.96 21.83 (4.38) 31.49
Cum $ 100.00 101.38 113.51 138.29 132.23 173.86

NASDAQ Stock Market (US and Foreign Companies) Return % — 6.99 8.80 29.37 (2.95) 35.78
Cum $ 100.00 106.99 116.42 150.60 146.15 198.45
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Five-Year Performance Highlights 

2019 (6) 2018 2017 (3) 2016 2015
(Amounts in thousands, except for employees and per share data)      

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:
Sales $ 772,702 $ 803,256 $ 624,464 $ 633,123 $ 692,279
Impairment Loss included in Net Income (4) $ 11,083 $ — $ 16,237 $ — $ —
Net Gain on Sales of Businesses (5) $ 78,801 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Net Income $ 52,017 $ 46,803 $ 19,679 $ 48,424 $ 66,974
Net Margin 6.7 % 5.8 % 3.2 % 7.6 % 9.7 %
Diluted Earnings Per Share (1) $ 1.60 $ 1.41 $ 0.58 $ 1.40 $ 1.93
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding – Diluted (1) 32,459 33,136 33,718 34,537 34,706
Return on Average Equity 13.4 % 13.1 % 5.9 % 15.2 % 25.3 %
YEAR-END FINANCIAL POSITION:
Working Capital (2) $ 222,441 $ 246,079 $ 212,438 $ 168,513 $ 145,735
Total Assets $ 782,716 $ 774,640 $ 735,956 $ 604,344 $ 609,243
Indebtedness $ 188,224 $ 233,982 $ 271,767 $ 148,120 $ 169,789
Shareholders’ Equity $ 388,857 $ 386,625 $ 329,927 $ 337,449 $ 300,225
Book Value Per Share (1) $ 12.54 $ 11.86 $ 10.22 $ 10.13 $ 8.93
OTHER YEAR-END DATA:
Depreciation and Amortization $ 33,049 $ 35,032 $ 27,063 $ 25,790 $ 25,309
Capital Expenditures $ 12,083 $ 16,317 $ 13,478 $ 13,037 $ 18,641
Shares Outstanding (1) 30,999 32,593 32,269 33,328 33,635
Number of Employees 2,828 2,690 2,516 2,304 2,304

1. Diluted Earnings Per Share, Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Diluted, Book Value Per Share and Shares 
Outstanding have been adjusted for the impact of the October 12, 2018 fifteen percent Class B stock distribution, 
October 11, 2016 fifteen percent Class B stock distribution and the October 8, 2015 fifteen percent Class B stock 
distribution.

2. Working capital is calculated as the difference between Current Assets and Current Liabilities.

3. Information includes the results of CCC, acquired on April 3, 2017, and CSC, acquired on December 1, 2017, each 
from the acquisition date forward.

4. The Company recorded impairment charges in conjunction with restructuring, impairment and other activities during 
the fourth quarter of 2019, as described in Note 23 in our consolidated financial statements. The Company recorded a 
goodwill impairment charge during the fourth quarter of 2017. 

5. The Company recorded a gain of $80.1 million upon the sale of the semiconductor business on February 13, 2019, 
offset by a $1.3 million loss on the sale of the airfield lighting product line on July 12, 2019.

6. Information includes the results of Freedom, acquired on July 1, 2019, and Diagnosys, acquired on October 4, 2019, 
each from the acquisition date forward. Information reflects the sale of the semiconductor business, divested on 
February 13, 2019. Information included in 2019 is impacted by restructuring, impairment and other charges; as 
described in Note 23 in our consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Astronics, through its subsidiaries, is a leading supplier of advanced, high-performance electrical power generation, distribution 
and seat motion solutions, lighting and safety systems, avionics products, systems certification, aircraft structures and 
automated test systems.

Our strategy is to increase our value by developing technologies and capabilities either internally or through acquisition, and 
use those capabilities to provide innovative solutions to the aerospace & defense and other markets where our technology can 
be beneficial.

We have two reportable segments, Aerospace and Test Systems. Our Aerospace segment has principal operating facilities in the 
United States, Canada and France. Our Test Systems segment has principal operating facilities in the United States and the 
United Kingdom. We have engineering offices in the Ukraine and India.

Our Aerospace segment serves three primary markets. They are the military, commercial transport and business jet markets. 
Our Test Systems segment serves the aerospace & defense and mass transit markets.

Important factors affecting our growth and profitability are the rate at which new aircraft are produced, government funding of 
military programs, our ability to have our products designed into new aircraft and the rates at which aircraft owners, including 
commercial airlines, refurbish or install upgrades to their aircraft. New aircraft build rates and aircraft owners spending on 
upgrades and refurbishments is cyclical and dependent on the strength of the global economy. Once designed into a new 
aircraft, the spare parts business is frequently retained by the Company. Future growth and profitability of the test business is 
dependent on developing and procuring new and follow-on business in the mass-transit market as well as with the military. The 
nature of our Test Systems business is such that it pursues large multi-year projects. There can be significant periods of time 
between orders in this business which may result in large fluctuations of sales and profit levels and backlog from period to 
period.

Each of the markets that we serve presents opportunities that we expect will provide growth for the Company over the long-
term. We continue to look for opportunities in all of our markets to capitalize on our core competencies to expand our existing 
business and to grow through strategic acquisitions.

Challenges which continue to face us include improving shareholder value through increasing profitability. Increasing 
profitability is dependent on many things, primarily sales growth, both acquired and organic, and the Company’s ability to 
control operating expenses and to identify means of creating improved productivity. Sales are driven by increased build rates 
for existing aircraft, market acceptance and economic success of new aircraft and our products, continued government funding 
of defense programs, the Company’s ability to obtain production contracts for parts we currently supply or have been selected 
to design and develop for new aircraft platforms and continually identifying and winning new business for our Test Systems 
segment. 

Reduced aircraft build rates driven by a weak economy, tight credit markets, reduced air passenger travel and an increasing 
supply of used aircraft on the market would likely result in reduced demand for our products, which will result in lower profits. 
Reduction of defense spending may result in fewer opportunities for us to compete, which could result in lower profits in the 
future. Many of our newer development programs are based on new and unproven technology and at the same time we are 
challenged to develop the technology on a schedule that is consistent with specific programs. We will continue to address these 
challenges by working to improve operating efficiencies and focusing on executing on the growth opportunities currently in 
front of us.

ACQUISITIONS

On July 1, 2019, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Freedom Communication 
Technologies, Inc. Freedom, located in Kilgore, Texas, is a leader in wireless communication testing, primarily for the civil 
land mobile radio market. Freedom is included in our Test Systems segment. The total consideration for the transaction was 
$21.8 million, net of $0.6 million in cash acquired. 

On October 4, 2019, the Company acquired the stock of the primary operating subsidiaries as well as certain other assets from 
mass transit and defense market test solution provider, Diagnosys Test Systems Limited, for $7.0 million in cash, plus an earn-
out estimated at a fair value of $2.5 million. Diagnosys is included in our Test Systems segment. Diagnosys is a developer and 
manufacturer of comprehensive automated test equipment providing test, support, and repair of high value electronics, electro-
mechanical, pneumatic and printed circuit boards focused on the global mass transit and defense markets. The terms of the 
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acquisition allow for a potential earn-out of up to an additional $13.0 million over the next three years based on achievement of 
new order levels of over $72.0 million during that period. The acquired business has operations in Westford, Massachusetts as 
well as Ferndown, England, and an engineering center of excellence in Bangalore, India. Refer to Note 21 for additional 
information.

DIVESTITURES

On February 13, 2019, the Company completed a divestiture of its semiconductor test business within the Test Systems 
segment. The business was not core to the future of the Test Systems segment. The total proceeds received for the sale 
amounted to $103.8 million. The Company recorded a pre-tax gain on the sale of $80.1 million in the first quarter of 2019. The 
Company recorded income tax expense relating to the gain of $19.7 million.

The transaction also includes two elements of contingent earnouts. The “First Earnout” is calculated based on a multiple of all 
future sales of existing and certain future derivative products to existing and future customers in each annual period from 2019 
through 2022. The First Earnout may not exceed $35.0 million in total. The “Second Earnout” is calculated based on a multiple 
of future sales related to an existing product and program with an existing customer exceeding an annual threshold for each 
annual period from 2019 through 2022. The Second Earnout is not capped. For the Second Earnout, if the applicable sales in an 
annual period do not exceed the annual threshold, no amounts will be paid relative to such annual period; the sales in such 
annual period do not carry over to the next annual period. Due to the degree of uncertainty associated with estimating the future 
sales levels of the divested business and its underlying programs, and the lack of reliable predictive market information, the 
Company will recognize such earnout proceeds, if received, as additional gain on sale when such proceeds are realized or 
realizable. No amounts were due under the First Earnout.

On July 12, 2019, the Company sold intellectual property and certain assets associated with its Airfield Lighting product line 
for $1.0 million in cash. The Airfield Lighting product line, part of the Aerospace segment, was not core to the business and 
represented less than 1% of revenue. The Company recorded a pre-tax loss on the sale of approximately $1.3 million. 

RESTRUCTURING

In the fourth quarter of 2019, in an effort to reduce the significant operating losses at our AeroSat business, we initiated a 
restructuring plan to reduce costs and minimize losses of our AeroSat antenna business. The plan narrows the initiatives for the 
AeroSat business to focus primarily on near-term opportunities pertaining to business jet connectivity. The plan has a 
downsized manufacturing operation remaining in New Hampshire, with significantly reduced personnel and operating 
expenses. 

The Company's total impairments and restructuring charges recorded in the fourth quarter of 2019 amounted to $28.8 million 
all of which is included in the Aerospace segment. Refer to Note 23 for additional discussion.

MARKETS

Commercial Transport Market

Sales to the commercial transport market include sales of electrical power generation, distribution, seat motion, lighting & 
safety products, avionics products, systems certification and structures products. Sales to this market totaled approximately 
$523.9 million or 67.8% of our consolidated sales in 2019.

Maintaining and growing sales to the commercial transport market will depend on airlines’ capital spending budgets for cabin 
upgrades as well as the purchase of new aircraft by global airlines. This spending by the airlines is impacted by their profits, 
cash flow and available financing as well as competitive pressures between the airlines to improve the travel experience for 
their passengers. We expect that new aircraft will be equipped with more passenger and aircraft connectivity and in-seat power 
than previous generation aircraft which drives demand for our avionics and power products. This market has historically 
experienced strong growth from airlines installing in-seat passenger power systems on their existing and newly delivered 
aircraft. Although we expect, based on information that Boeing has made publicly available, that deliveries of the 737 MAX 
program will resume and the demand for the aircraft in the long-term has not changed, a prolonged grounding of the 737 MAX 
could substantially decrease sales to this market in the near or long term which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The 737 MAX situation affects us not only because it has 
been our largest production program, but also because the grounding has reduced capacity in the world’s airline fleets, 
challenging our aftermarket business. Our ability to maintain and grow sales to this market depends on our ability to maintain 
our technological advantages over our competitors and maintain our relationships with major in-flight entertainment suppliers 
and global airlines.
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Military Aerospace Market

Sales to the military aerospace market include sales of lighting & safety products, avionics products, electrical power & motion 
products and structures products. Sales to this market totaled approximately 9.9% of our consolidated sales and amounted to 
$76.5 million in 2019.

The military market is dependent on governmental funding which can change from year to year. Risks are that overall spending 
may be reduced in the future, specific programs may be eliminated or that we fail to win new business through the competitive 
bid process. Astronics does not have significant reliance on any one program such that cancellation of a particular program will 
cause material financial loss. We believe that we will continue to have opportunities similar to past years regarding this market.

Business Jet Market

Sales to the business jet market include sales of lighting & safety products, avionics products, and electrical power & motion 
products. Sales to this market totaled approximately 8.7% of our consolidated sales in 2019 and amounted to $67.5 million. 

Sales to the business jet market are driven by our ship set content on new aircraft and build rates of new aircraft. Business jet 
OEM build rates are impacted by global wealth creation and corporate profitability. We continue to see opportunities on new 
aircraft currently in the design phase to employ our lighting & safety, electrical power and avionics technologies in this market. 
There is risk involved in the development of any new aircraft including the risk that the aircraft will not ultimately be produced 
or that it will be produced in lower quantities than originally expected and thus impacting our return on our engineering and 
development efforts.

Tests Systems Products

Our Test Systems segment accounted for approximately 10.4% of our consolidated sales in 2019 and amounted to $80.1 
million. Sales to the aerospace & defense market were approximately $70.4 million in 2019. Sales to the semiconductor market 
were approximately $9.7 million. The Company completed a divestiture of its semiconductor test business on February 13, 
2019.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make estimates, assumptions and 
judgments that affect the amounts reported. These estimates, assumptions and judgments are affected by management’s 
application of accounting policies, which are discussed in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 1 of Item 8, 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this report. The critical accounting policies have been reviewed with the Audit 
Committee of our Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when, or as, the Company transfers control of promised products or services to a customer in an amount 
that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring those products or services. Sales 
shown on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations are from contracts with customers.

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within a range from 
30 to 90 days after the performance obligation has been satisfied; or in certain cases, up-front deposits. In circumstances where 
the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, the Company has determined that the Company's 
contracts generally do not include a significant financing component. Taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently 
remitted to governmental authorities, are excluded from sales.

The Company recognizes an asset for the incremental, material costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if the Company 
expects the benefit of those costs to be longer than one year and the costs are expected to be recovered. These incremental costs 
include, but are not limited to, sales commissions incurred to obtain a contract with a customer. As of December 31, 2019, the 
Company does not have material incremental costs on any open contracts with an original expected duration of greater than one 
year.

The Company recognizes an asset for certain, material costs to fulfill a contract if it is determined that the costs relate directly to 
a contract or an anticipated contract that can be specifically identified, generate or enhance resources that will be used in 
satisfying performance obligations in the future, and are expected to be recovered. Such costs are amortized on a systematic 
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods to which the asset relates. Start-up costs are expensed as 
incurred. Capitalized fulfillment costs are included in Inventories in the accompanying Consolidated Condensed Balance 
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Sheets. Should future orders not materialize or it is determined the costs are no longer probable of recovery, the capitalized 
costs are written off. As of December 31, 2019, the Company does not have material capitalized fulfillment costs. Capitalized 
fulfillment costs were $9.6 million as of December 31, 2018. These costs were associated with a contract that is included in the 
divestiture of the semiconductor business and as such, the balance is included in Assets Held for Sale in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2018. Amortization of fulfillment costs recognized within Cost of Products Sold 
was approximately $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of 
account. The majority of our contracts have a single performance obligation as the promise to transfer the individual goods or 
services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts which are, therefore, not distinct. Thus, the contract's 
transaction price is the revenue recognized when or as that performance obligation is satisfied. Promised goods or services that 
are immaterial in the context of the contract are not separately assessed as performance obligations.

Some of our contracts have multiple performance obligations, most commonly due to the contract covering multiple phases of 
the product lifecycle (development, production, maintenance and support). For contracts with multiple performance obligations, 
the contract’s transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation using our best estimate of the standalone selling 
price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The primary method used to estimate standalone selling price is the 
expected cost plus margin approach, under which expected costs are forecast to satisfy a performance obligation and then an 
appropriate margin is added for that distinct good or service. Shipping and handling activities that occur after the customer has 
obtained control of the good are considered fulfillment activities, not performance obligations.

Some of our contracts offer price discounts or free units after a specified volume has been purchased. The Company evaluates 
these options to determine whether they provide a material right to the customer, representing a separate performance 
obligation. If the option provides a material right to the customer, revenue is allocated to these rights and recognized when 
those future goods or services are transferred, or when the option expires.

Contract modifications are routine in the performance of our contracts. Contracts are often modified to account for changes in 
contract specifications or requirements. In most instances, contract modifications are for goods or services that are distinct, and, 
therefore, are accounted for as new contracts. The effect of modifications has been reflected when identifying the satisfied and 
unsatisfied performance obligations, determining the transaction price and allocating the transaction price.

The majority of the Company’s revenue from contracts with customers is recognized at a point in time, when the customer 
obtains control of the promised product, which is generally upon delivery and acceptance by the customer. These contracts may 
provide credits or incentives, which may be accounted for as variable consideration. Variable consideration is estimated at the 
most likely amount to predict the consideration to which the Company will be entitled, and only to the extent it is probable that 
a subsequent change in estimate will not result in a significant revenue reversal when estimating the amount of revenue to 
recognize. Variable consideration is treated as a change to the sales transaction price and based on an assessment of all 
information (i.e., historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to the Company, and estimated at contract 
inception and updated at the end of each reporting period as additional information becomes available. Most of our contracts do 
not contain rights to return product; where this right does exist, it is evaluated as possible variable consideration.

For contracts that are subject to the requirement to accrue anticipated losses, the company recognizes the entire anticipated loss 
in the period that the loss becomes probable.

For contracts with customers in which the Company promises to provide a product to the customer that has no alternative use to 
the Company and the Company has enforceable rights to payment for progress completed to date inclusive of profit, the 
Company satisfies the performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time, using costs incurred to date relative to total 
estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying our performance obligations. Incurred cost represents work 
performed, which corresponds with, and thereby best depicts, the transfer of control to the customer. Contract costs include 
labor, material and overhead.

The Company also recognizes revenue from service contracts (including service-type warranties) over time. The Company 
recognizes revenue over time during the term of the agreement as the customer is simultaneously receiving and consuming the 
benefits provided throughout the Company’s performance. The Company typically recognizes revenue on a straight-line basis 
throughout the contract period.
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Reviews for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill Impairment Testing

Our goodwill is the result of the excess of purchase price over net assets acquired from acquisitions. As of December 31, 2019, 
we had approximately $145.0 million of goodwill. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $125.0 million of 
goodwill. 

We identify our reporting units by assessing whether the components of our operating segments constitute businesses for which 
discrete financial information is available and segment management regularly reviews the operating results of those 
components. The Test Systems operating segment is its own reporting unit while the other reporting units are one level below 
our Aerospace operating segment.

Companies may perform a qualitative assessment as the initial step in the annual goodwill impairment testing process for all or 
selected reporting units under certain circumstances. Companies are also allowed to bypass the qualitative analysis and perform 
a quantitative analysis if desired. Economic uncertainties and the length of time from the calculation of a baseline fair value are 
factors that we would consider in determining whether to perform a quantitative test.

Quantitative testing first requires a comparison of the fair value of each reporting unit to the carrying value. We use the 
discounted cash flow method to estimate the fair value of each of our reporting units. The discounted cash flow method 
incorporates various assumptions, the most significant being projected sales growth rates, operating profit margins and cash 
flows, the terminal growth rate and the discount rate. Management projects sales growth rates, operating margins and cash 
flows based on each reporting unit’s current business, expected developments and operational strategies. If the carrying value of 
the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered impaired and any loss must be measured. Goodwill impairment 
is measured as the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of 
goodwill.

In 2019, we performed quantitative assessments for the reporting units which had goodwill as of the first day of the fourth 
quarter. Based on our quantitative assessment, the Company recorded a full goodwill impairment charge of approximately 
$1.6 million in the December 31, 2019 consolidated statement of operations associated with the AeroSat reporting unit. The 
impairment loss was incurred in the Aerospace segment and is reported within the Impairment Loss line of the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OUTLOOK

(In thousands, except percentages) 2019 (2) 2018 2017 (1)

Sales $ 772,702 $ 803,256 $ 624,464
Gross Margin 20.2 % 22.5 % 22.0 %
SG&A Expenses as a Percentage of Sales 18.6 % 14.6 % 14.2 %
Impairment Loss $ 11,083 $ — $ 16,237
Net Gain on Sale of Businesses $ 78,801 $ — $ —
Interest Expense $ 6,141 $ 9,710 $ 5,369
Effective Tax Rate 23.8 % 10.5 % 21.3 %
Net Income $ 52,017 $ 46,803 $ 19,679

(1) Our results of operations for 2017 include the operations of CCC, beginning April 3, 2017, and the operations of CSC, 
beginning December 1, 2017.

(2) Our results of operations for 2019 include the operations of Freedom, beginning July 1, 2019, and the operations of 
Diagnosys, beginning October 4, 2019. 2019 results also reflect the divestiture of the semiconductor business on February 13, 
2019.

A discussion by segment can be found at “Segment Results of Operations and Outlook” in this MD&A.

CONSOLIDATED OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS

2019 Compared With 2018 

Consolidated sales for the full year of 2019 decreased $30.6 million to $772.7 million, primarily because of the divested 
semiconductor business which had sales of $9.7 million in 2019 and $84.3 million in 2018.
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Consolidated cost of products sold decreased $6.0 million to $616.6 million in 2019 from $622.6 million in the prior year. The 
decline was due to lower sales, primarily due to the divestiture of the semiconductor business, partially offset with incremental 
tariff expense of $5.9 million and $15.4 million of charges associated with the restructuring and impairment charges of our 
AeroSat antenna business which required classification within cost of products sold.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses were $143.4 million, or 18.6% or sales, compared with $117.0 million, 
or 14.6% of sales, for the prior year period. The $26.3 million increase was due to increased legal reserves for the long-term 
patent dispute of $19.6 million and impairment and restructuring charges related to the antenna business classified within 
SG&A expense of $2.4 million.

The Company recorded a gain of $80.1 million upon the sale of the semiconductor business on February 13, 2019, offset by a 
$1.3 million loss on the sale of the airfield lighting product line on July 12, 2019.

Other expense, net in 2019 includes a $5.0 million impairment of an equity investment.

2018 Compared With 2017 

Consolidated sales were $803.3 million, up 28.6%, or $178.8 million, from the same period last year. Organic sales increased 
$94.0 million, or 15.0%. Acquired sales for 2018 were $84.8 million related to CSC and CCC and all related to the Aerospace 
segment. Aerospace segment sales of $675.6 million were up 26.4%, or $141.0 million, and Test Systems segment sales were 
up 42.0% to $127.6 million.

Consolidated cost of products sold increased $135.2 million to $622.6 million in 2018 from $487.4 million in the prior year. 
The increase was due primarily to the cost associated with the higher organic sales volume, coupled with the cost of products 
sold related to CSC and CCC.

SG&A expenses were $117.0 million, or 14.6% or sales, compared with $88.8 million, or 14.2% of sales, for the prior year 
period. The $28.3 million increase was due primarily to the incremental SG&A costs of CSC and CCC, which added $20.9 
million. This included $7.4 million of incremental intangible asset amortization expense in 2018. Corporate overhead expenses 
increased $2.6 million due primarily to increased staffing and infrastructure development.

Interest expense increased in 2018 compared to 2017 due primarily to increased average debt levels.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rates for 2019, 2018 and 2017 were 23.8%, 10.5% and 21.3%, respectively. Our tax rate is affected by 
recurring items, such as tax rates in foreign jurisdictions and the relative amount of income we earn in those jurisdictions, which 
we expect to be fairly consistent in the near term. It is also affected by discrete items that may occur in any given year, but are 
not consistent from year to year. In addition to state income taxes, the following items had the most significant impact on the 
difference between our statutory U.S. federal income tax rate (21% in 2019 and 2018 and 35% in 2017) and our effective tax 
rate:

2019:

1. Recognition of approximately $3.1 million of 2019 U.S. R&D tax credits.

2018:

1. Recognition of approximately $3.2 million of 2018 U.S. R&D tax credits.

2. Benefit of approximately $3.5 million from revised state filing position. 

2017:

1. Recognition of approximately $2.9 million of 2017 U.S. R&D tax credits.

2. Permanent differences, primarily the impact of the Domestic Production Activities Deduction.

3. Provisional amounts related to the Federal tax expense on deemed repatriation of foreign earnings 
($1.3 million), partially offset by revaluation of the deferred tax balances ($0.9 million) as a result of 
a reduction in the Federal tax rate from tax law changes enacted in 2017.
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2020 Outlook

The continued grounding of the 737 MAX and the associated production pause has caused us to withdraw revenue guidance 
temporarily. The MAX situation affects us not only because it is one of our largest production programs, but also because the 
grounding has reduced capacity for the world’s airlines, challenging our aftermarket business. We look forward to the MAX’s 
return to service, and issuing sales guidance as soon as practical.

We expect first quarter sales in 2020 to be in the range of $155 million to $165 million, with Aerospace generating about 90% 
of the total. We expect the first quarter will be the lightest quarter of 2020, with results strengthening throughout the year. In 
2019, we saw strong results at the beginning of the year which weakened towards the end. We expect 2020 will be just the 
opposite, with a weaker start and a stronger finish.

We have not currently estimated the impact which could result if the COVID-19 coronavirus becomes more significant 
globally. It is unknown whether and how global airline demand and spending, as well as global supply chains, may be affected 
if such an epidemic persists for an extended period of time. 

At December 31, 2019, our consolidated backlog was $359.6 million. At December 31, 2018, our backlog was $415.5 million. 
Excluding backlog related to the divested semiconductor business, our backlog was $403.3 million at December 31, 2018. 
Backlog in the Aerospace segment was $275.8 million at December 31, 2019, of which $249.6 million is expected to be 
recognized as revenue in 2020. Backlog in the Test Systems segment was $83.8 million at December 31, 2019. The Test 
Systems segment expects to recognize as revenue $51.4 million of backlog in 2020. 

The effective tax rate for 2020 is expected to be approximately 18% to 22%.

Capital equipment spending in 2020 is expected to be in the range of $22 million to $25 million. 

Depreciation and Amortization in 2020 is expected to in the range of $33 million and $35 million.

SEGMENT RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OUTLOOK

Operating profit, as presented below, is sales less cost of products sold and other operating expenses excluding interest expense, 
corporate expenses and other non-operating sales and expenses. Cost of products sold and operating expenses are directly 
attributable to the respective segment. Operating profit is reconciled to earnings before income taxes in Note 20 of Item 8, 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this report.

AEROSPACE SEGMENT 

(In thousands, except percentages) 2019 2018 2017

Sales $ 692,609 $ 675,625 $ 534,603
Operating Profit $ 16,657 $ 69,761 $ 38,888
Operating Margin 2.4 % 10.3 % 7.3 %

2019 2018  

Total Assets $ 629,371 $ 647,870
Backlog $ 275,754 $ 326,047

Sales by Market 2019 2018 2017

Commercial Transport $ 523,921 $ 536,269 $ 414,523
Military 76,542 68,138 61,270
Business Jet 67,541 43,090 41,298
Other 24,605 28,128 17,512
Total $ 692,609 $ 675,625 $ 534,603
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Sales by Product Line 2019 2018 2017

Electrical Power & Motion $ 338,237 $ 303,180 $ 264,286
Lighting & Safety 185,462 174,383 158,663
Avionics 106,787 131,849 53,960
Systems Certification 14,401 13,951 14,333
Structures 23,117 24,134 25,849
Other 24,605 28,128 17,512
Total $ 692,609 $ 675,625 $ 534,603

2019 Compared With 2018 

Aerospace segment sales increased by $17.0 million, or 2.5%, to $692.6 million, when compared with the prior-year period. 

Electrical Power & Motion sales increased $35.1 million, or 11.6%, due primarily to increased sales of in-seat power and 
motion products. Lighting & Safety sales increased $11.1 million due to higher sales of products to the military market. 
Avionics sales decreased by $25.1 million for similar reasons in the quarter. Sales of Other products were down $3.5 million.

Aerospace operating profit for 2019 was $16.7 million, or 2.4% of sales, compared with $69.8 million, or 10.3% of sales, in the 
same period of 2018. Aerospace operating profit was impacted by the legal reserve for the patent dispute of $19.6 million for 
the full year incremental tariff expense of $5.9 million and antenna business impairment and restructuring charges of $28.8 
million.

2018 Compared With 2017 

Aerospace segment sales increased by $141.0 million, or 26.4%, to $675.6 million, when compared with the prior-year period 
of $534.6 million. Organic sales increased $56.2 million, or 10.5%, to $590.8 million, while acquired sales from CSC and CCC 
were $84.8 million.

Avionics sales increased by $77.9 million, driven primarily by the acquisitions, which contributed incremental sales of $72.5 
million. Electrical Power & Motion sales increased $38.9 million, or 14.7%, due to higher sales of in-seat power and seat 
motion products. Lighting & Safety sales increased $15.7 million due to a general increase in volume. Sales of Other products 
were up $10.6 million, due to the CSC business. The increases were slightly offset by a decrease in Structures sales of $1.7 
million.

Aerospace operating profit for 2018 was $69.8 million, or 10.3% of sales, compared with $38.9 million, or 7.3% of sales, in the 
same period of 2017. Aerospace operating profit benefited from higher organic sales and profits of CSC, offset partially by 
increased operating losses of CCC, AeroSat and Armstrong which improved by $3.8 million to $34.7 million compared with 
the prior year, excluding Armstrong’s 2017 goodwill impairment charge. For the year, intangible asset amortization expense 
was $9.2 million related to CSC and CCC. Operating profit in the prior year was negatively impacted by the $16.2 million 
impairment at Armstrong.

2020 Outlook for Aerospace – The Aerospace segment’s backlog at December 31, 2019 was $275.8 million, compared to 
$326.0 million at December 31, 2018. Approximately $249.6 million of the backlog at December 31, 2019 is expected to be 
shipped over the next 12 months.

TEST SYSTEMS SEGMENT 

(In thousands, except percentages) 2019 2018 2017

Sales $ 80,093 $ 127,631 $ 89,861
Operating Profit $ 4,494 $ 10,718 $ 7,359
Operating Margin 5.6 % 8.4 % 8.2 %

 2019 2018  

Total Assets $ 110,994 $ 97,056
Backlog (1) $ 83,837 $ 89,470

(1) Test Systems backlog as of December 31, 2018, includes $12.2 million related to the divested semiconductor business.

24



Sales by Market 2019 2018 2017

Semiconductor $ 9,692 $ 84,254 $ 31,999
Aerospace & Defense 70,401 43,377 57,862
Total $ 80,093 $ 127,631 $ 89,861

2019 Compared With 2018 

Test Segment sales decreased from $127.6 million to $80.1 million for 2019, primarily due to the divestiture of the 
semiconductor test business, which contributed sales of $84.3 million in 2018 and $9.7 million in 2019.

Operating profit was $4.5 million, or 5.6% of sales, compared with $10.7 million, or 8.4% of sales, in 2018. 

2018 Compared With 2017 

Sales in 2018 increased 42.0% to $127.6 million compared with sales of $89.9 million for 2017. The growth was driven by a 
$52.3 million increase in sales to the Semiconductor market, offset by a decrease in Aerospace & Defense sales of $14.5 
million.

Operating profit was $10.7 million, or 8.4% of sales, compared with $7.4 million, or 8.2% of sales, in 2017. This was primarily 
due to increased sales volume partially offset by approximately $2.0 million in increased engineering costs and elevated initial 
costs associated with new products.

2020 Outlook for Test Systems – Backlog in the Test Systems segment was $83.8 million at December 31, 2019, compared to 
Test Systems backlog, exclusive of the divested semiconductor business, of $77.3 million at December 31, 2018. The Test 
Systems segment expects to recognize as revenue $51.4 million of backlog in 2020. 

We do not have material off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material future effect on 
our results of operations or financial condition.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table represents contractual obligations as of December 31, 2019:

 Payments Due by Period
(In thousands) Total 2020 2021-2022 2023-2024 After 2024

Long-term Debt $ 188,224 $ 224 $ — $ 188,000 $ —
Interest on Long-term Debt 17,078 5,481 10,964 633 —
Purchase Obligations 129,282 121,034 8,248 — —
Supplemental Retirement Plan and Post 
Retirement Obligations 27,651 404 753 973 25,521
Lease Obligations 33,197 7,026 13,445 6,749 5,977
Other Long-term Liabilities 8,467 6,541 748 746 432
Total Contractual Obligations $ 403,899 $ 140,710 $ 34,158 $ 197,101 $ 31,930

Notes to Contractual Obligations Table

Long-term Debt — See Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Note 8, Long-Term Debt and Note Payable in 
this report. The timing of the payments above consider the amendment to the revolving credit facility as discussed in Note 8.

Interest on Long-term Debt — Future interest payments have been calculated using the applicable interest rate of each debt 
facility based on actual borrowings as of December 31, 2019. Actual future borrowings and rates may differ from these 
estimates.

Purchase Obligations — Purchase obligations are comprised of the Company’s commitments for goods and services in the 
normal course of business.

Lease Obligations — Financing and Operating lease obligations are primarily related to the Company's facility leases and 
interest.
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Other Long-term Liabilities — Balance in 2021-2022 includes $4.5 million litigation accrual related to damages awarded to 
Lufthansa in the patent dispute related to direct sales. See Note 19 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information. Table excludes the $16.1 million accrual recorded as management's best estimate of damages related to indirect 
sales claim, as this will not become a contractual obligation until the appeals process is complete and amount of damages has 
been finalized. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2017

Net cash flows from:
Operating Activities $ 42,689 $ 54,881 $ 37,783
Investing Activities $ 64,630 $ (19,667) $ (129,561)
Financing Activities $ (92,182) $ (36,134) $ 91,425

Our cash flow from operations and available borrowing capacity provide us with the financial resources needed to run our 
operations and reinvest in our business.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $42.7 million in 2019 compared with $54.9 million in 2018. The decrease of $12.2 
million in 2019 was primarily due to the net non-cash effect on net income of the net gain from the sale of businesses, the legal 
reserve and the antenna business impairment and restructuring charges, partially offset by a change in net operating assets. 

Cash provided by operating activities was $54.9 million in 2018 compared with $37.8 million in 2017. The increase of $17.1 
million in 2018 was primarily a result of increased net income in 2018 when compared with 2017, offset with a change in net 
operating assets.

Cash provided by operating activities was $37.8 million in 2017 compared with $48.9 million in 2016. The decrease of $11.1 
million in 2017 was primarily a result of decreased net income and net operating assets in 2017 when compared with 2016.

Our cash flows from operations are primarily dependent on our net income adjusted for non-cash expenses and the timing of 
collections of receivables, level of inventory and payments to suppliers and employees. Sales and operating results of our 
Aerospace segment are influenced by the build rates of new aircraft, which are subject to general economic conditions, airline 
passenger travel and spending for government and military programs. Our Test Systems segment sales depends in part on 
capital expenditures of the aerospace & defense industry which, in turn, depend on current and future demand for those 
products. A reduction in demand for our customers’ products would adversely affect our operating results and cash flows. We 
maintain a revolving credit facility to fund our short and long-term capital requirements including acquisitions and share 
repurchase efforts.

Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities in 2019 was $64.6 million, primarily the result of the $103.8 million in proceeds from the 
divestiture of the semiconductor business offset by purchases of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) of $12.1 million. 
Cash provided by investing activities in 2019 was also offset by net cash used for the purchases of Freedom and Diagnosys for 
$21.8 million and $7.0 million, respectively.

Cash used for investing activities in 2018 was $19.7 million, primarily related to purchases of PP&E of $16.3 million.

Cash used for investing activities in 2017 was $129.6 million, primarily related to the acquisitions of CCC and CSC of $114.0 
million and purchases of PP&E of $13.5 million.

Our expectation for 2020 is that we will invest between $22 million and $25 million for PP&E. Future requirements for PP&E 
depend on numerous factors, including expansion of existing product lines and introduction of new products. Management 
believes that our cash flow from operations and current borrowing arrangements will provide for these capital expenditures. We 
expect to continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities in the future.

Financing Activities

Our ability to maintain sufficient liquidity is highly dependent upon achieving expected operating results. Failure to achieve 
expected operating results could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, our ability to obtain financing, and our 
operations in the future.
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The Company's Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Agreement”) provides for a $500 million revolving credit 
line with the option to increase the line by up to $150 million. The maturity date of the loans under the Agreement is February 
16, 2023. At December 31, 2019, there was $188.0 million outstanding on the revolving credit facility and there remains $310.9 
million available, net of outstanding letters of credit. The credit facility allocates up to $20 million of the $500 million 
revolving credit line for the issuance of letters of credit, including certain existing letters of credit. At December 31, 2019, 
outstanding letters of credit totaled $1.1 million. 

The maximum permitted leverage ratio of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Agreement) was 3.75 to 1, 
increasing to 4.50 to 1 for up to four fiscal quarters following the closing of an acquisition permitted under the Agreement, 
subject to limitations. The Company is in compliance with its financial covenant at December 31, 2019. The Company will pay 
interest on the unpaid principal amount of the facility at a rate equal to one-, three- or six-month LIBOR plus between 1.00% 
and 1.50% based upon the Company’s leverage ratio. The Company will also pay a commitment fee to the Lenders in an 
amount equal to between 0.10% and 0.20% on the undrawn portion of the credit facility, based upon the Company’s leverage 
ratio. 

The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement as amended are jointly and severally guaranteed by each domestic 
subsidiary of the Company other than a non-material subsidiary. The obligations are secured by a first priority lien on 
substantially all of the Company’s and the guarantors’ assets.

In the event of voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy of the Company or any subsidiary, all unpaid principal and other amounts 
owing under the Credit Agreement automatically become due and payable. Other events of default, such as failure to make 
payments as they become due and breach of financial and other covenants, change of control, judgments over a certain amount, 
and cross default under other agreements give the Agent the option to declare all such amounts immediately due and payable.

The primary financing activities in 2019 related to the repurchase of approximately 1,851,000 shares at an aggregate cost of 
$50.8 million under our share purchase program, coupled with net payments on our senior credit facility of $39.0 million. The 
primary financing activities in 2018 related to net repayments on our senior facility of $35.0 million.

The Company’s cash needs for working capital, debt service, capital equipment, and acquisition opportunities during 2020 is 
expected to be met by cash flows from operations and cash balances and, if necessary, utilization of the revolving credit facility.

DIVIDENDS

Management believes that it should retain the capital generated from operating activities for investment in advancing 
technologies, acquisitions and debt retirement. Accordingly, there are no plans to institute a cash dividend program.

BACKLOG

At December 31, 2019, our consolidated backlog was $359.6 million. At December 31, 2018, our backlog was $415.5 million. 
Excluding backlog related to the divested semiconductor business, our backlog was $403.3 million at December 31, 2018. 
Backlog in the Aerospace segment was $275.8 million at December 31, 2019, of which $249.6 million is expected to be 
recognized as revenue in 2020. Backlog in the Test Systems segment was $83.8 million at December 31, 2019, of which $51.4 
million is expected to be recognized as revenue of in 2020. 

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated herein by reference to the information 
included in the Company’s 2020 Proxy Statement which will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of the 
Company’s 2019 fiscal year.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements at Item 8 of this report.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company has limited exposure to fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates to U.S. dollar, primarily in Canadian 
dollars and Euros currency. The impact of transactions denominated in any other foreign currency is insignificant. 
Approximately 89% of the Company’s consolidated sales are transacted in U.S. dollars. Net assets held in or measured in 
Canadian dollars amounted to $23.6 million at December 31, 2019. Net assets held in or measured in Euros amounted to $40.8 
million at December 31, 2019. 
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Risk due to fluctuation in foreign exchange rates to net income was insignificant in 2019; however it could be significant in the 
future. Risk due to fluctuation in interest rates is a function of the Company’s floating rate debt obligations, which total 
approximately $188.0 million at December 31, 2019. A change of 1% in interest rates of all variable rate debt would impact 
annual net income by approximately $1.9 million, before income taxes.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Astronics Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Astronics Corporation (the Company) as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed
in the Index at Item 15(a)(2)(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2019 and
2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(2013 framework), and our report dated March 2, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method for recognizing revenue as a 
result of the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 
606), and the amendments in ASUs 2015-14, 2016-08, 2016-10 and 2016-12, effective January 1, 2018. As discussed in Note 1 
to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases as a result of the adoption of 
ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as amended, effective January 1, 2019.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as
a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Valuation of Goodwill
Description of 
the Matter

As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s goodwill balance was $145 million. As discussed in Notes 1
and 7 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company tests goodwill for impairment at the
reporting unit level on an annual basis or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that
would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. For each
reporting unit, the Company performed a quantitative test using the discounted cash flow method to
estimate fair value. The discounted cash flow method incorporates various assumptions, the most
significant being projected revenue growth rates and the weighted-average cost of capital. If the carrying
value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill impairment is measured as the amount by
which the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of
goodwill.

Auditing management’s assumptions was especially subjective due to the estimation required in
determining the fair value of the Company’s reporting units. The fair value estimates for these reporting
units were sensitive to the significant assumptions of the revenue growth rate and the weighted-average
cost of capital, which are affected by expectations about future market or economic conditions,
particularly those in the aerospace industry.

How We 
Addressed the 
Matter in Our 
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Company’s goodwill impairment test process, including the determination of the underlying
significant assumptions described above, and the completeness and accuracy of the impairment analysis.

To test the estimated fair value of the Company’s reporting units, we performed audit procedures with the
assistance of our valuation professionals that included, among others, assessing the methodology used,
testing the significant assumptions discussed above and testing the underlying data used in the impairment
analysis. We compared the significant assumptions used by management to current industry and
economic trends, historical trends of the Company, and other relevant factors. We assessed the historical
accuracy of management’s estimates and performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to
evaluate the changes in the fair value of the reporting units that would result from changes in the
assumptions. We also involved our valuation professionals to assist in our evaluation of the weighted
average cost of capital used in the fair value estimates. In addition, we tested the reconciliation of the fair
value of the Company’s reporting units to the market capitalization of the Company as of the annual
impairment testing date.

Revenue Recognition
Description of 
the Matter

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s revenues totaled $772.7 million. As discussed in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, some of the Company’s contracts with customers contain
multiple performance obligations. The majority of the Company’s revenue from contracts with customers
is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the product, which is generally upon
delivery and acceptance by the customer. For contracts with customers in which the Company satisfies its
promise to the customer to provide a product that has no alternative use to the Company and the Company
has enforceable rights to payment for progress completed to date inclusive of profit, the Company
satisfies the performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time, using costs incurred to date
relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying the Company’s
performance obligations.

Auditing management’s evaluation of contracts with customers was especially challenging due to the
effort required to analyze the terms and conditions of the Company’s various customer contracts given
that such terms and conditions are nonstandard. This included the identification and determination of the
performance obligations and the timing of revenue recognition.
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How We 
Addressed the 
Matter in Our 
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Company’s revenue recognition process. For example, we tested controls over management’s
review of the terms and conditions of contracts with customers which included an analysis of the distinct
performance obligations and a review of the conclusion as to whether revenue from such performance
obligations should be recognized over time or at a point in time. We also tested management’s centralized
monitoring control over completeness of the contract reviews and appropriateness of the accounting
conclusions.

We performed procedures to test the identification and determination of the performance obligations and
the timing of revenue recognition which included reading a sample of executed contracts and purchase
orders to understand the contract, performing an independent assessment of the identification of distinct
performance obligations and the appropriate timing of revenue recognition, and comparing our
assessment to that of management. We tested the completeness and accuracy of the Company’s contract
summary documentation, specifically related to the identification and determination of distinct
performance obligations and the timing of revenue recognition.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1992.
Buffalo, New York
March 2, 2020 
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term 
is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 based upon the framework in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework originally issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is 
effective as of December 31, 2019.

We completed acquisitions in 2019, which were excluded from our management’s report on internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2019. We acquired Freedom Communication Technologies, Inc. on July 1, 2019 and the primary 
operating subsidiaries from Diagnosys Test Systems Limited, on October 4, 2019. These acquisitions were included in our 2019 
consolidated financial statements and constituted $55.8 million and $33.6 million of total and net assets, respectively, as of 
December 31, 2019 and $12.9 million and ($2.1) million of sales and net income, respectively, for the year then ended.

Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our consolidated financial statements included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and, as part of their audit, has issued their report, included herein, on the effectiveness of 
our internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Peter J. Gundermann March 2, 2020
Peter J. Gundermann
President & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ David C. Burney March 2, 2020
David C. Burney
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Astronics Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Astronics Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Astronics Corporation (the Company) maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s
assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal
controls of Freedom Communication Technologies, Inc. (“FCT”) and the primary operating subsidiaries of Diagnosys Test
Systems Limited (“Diagnosys”), which are included in the 2019 consolidated financial statements of the Company and
constituted approximately 7% and 10% of total and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2019 and approximately 2%
and (4)% of sales and net income, respectively, for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of
the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of FCT and Diagnosys.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the 2019 consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated 
statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2) and our 
report dated March 2, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Buffalo, New York
March 2, 2020
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The following table summarizes the components of the net periodic cost for the years ended December 31 as follows:

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2017

Net Periodic Cost
Service Cost — Benefits Earned During Period $ 13 $ 16 $ 7
Interest Cost 46 46 41
Amortization of Prior Service Cost 16 16 16
Amortization of Losses 43 59 31

Net Periodic Cost $ 118 $ 137 $ 95

The assumptions used to determine the net periodic cost are as follows:

2019 2018 2017

Discount Rate 4.20% 3.60% 4.20%
Future Average Healthcare Benefit Increases 4.98% 5.38% 5.50%

Unrecognized prior service costs of less than $0.1 million and unrecognized actuarial losses of $0.3 million for medical, dental 
and long-term care insurance benefits (net of taxes of $0.1 million) are included in AOCI at December 31, 2019 and have not 
been recognized in net periodic cost. The Company estimates that the prior service costs and net losses in AOCI as of 
December 31, 2019 that will be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost during the year ended December 31, 
2020 for the Plan will be insignificant. For measurement purposes, a 5.2% increase in the cost of health care benefits was 
assumed for 2020 and a range between 4.2% and 5.4% from 2021 through 2070. A one percentage point increase or decrease in 
this rate would change the post retirement benefit obligation by approximately $0.1 million. The plan is recognized in the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as a current accrued pension liability of $0.1 million and a long-term accrued 
pension liability of $1.0 million. The Company expects the benefits to be paid in each of the next five years to be less than $0.1 
million per year and approximately $0.3 million in the aggregate for the next five years after that. This also is the expected 
Company contribution to the plan, as it is unfunded.

The Company is a participating employer in a trustee-managed multiemployer defined benefit pension plan for employees who 
participate in collective bargaining agreements. The plan generally provides retirement benefits to employees based on years of 
service to the Company. Contributions are based on the hours worked and are expensed on a current basis. The Plan is 92.7% 
funded as of January 1, 2019. The Company’s contributions to the plan were $1.1 million in each of 2019, 2018 and 2017. 
These contributions represent less than 1% of total contributions to the plan.

NOTE 14 — SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share Buyback Program

On February 24, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $50 million of common stock (the 
“Buyback Program”). The Buyback Program allowed the Company to purchase shares of its common stock in accordance with 
applicable securities laws on the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. The Company repurchased 
approximately 1,675,000 shares and completed that program in 2017. On December 12, 2017, the Company’s Board of 
Directors authorized an additional repurchase of up to $50 million of common stock. The Company repurchased approximately 
1,823,000 shares and completed that program in the third quarter of 2019. On September 17, 2019, the Company’s Board of 
Directors authorized an additional repurchase of up to $50 million. An additional 28,000 shares have been repurchased under 
the new program as of December 31, 2019 at a cost of $0.8 million. Subsequent to December 31, 2019, approximately 282,000 
additional shares have been repurchased at a cost of $7.7 million.

Reserved Common Stock

At December 31, 2019, approximately 11.8 million shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon conversion of the 
Class B stock, exercise of stock options, issuance of restricted stock and purchases under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 
Class B Stock is identical to Common Stock, except Class B Stock has ten votes per share, is automatically converted to 
Common Stock on a one-for-one basis when sold or transferred other than via gift, devise or bequest and cannot receive 
dividends unless an equal or greater amount of dividends is declared on Common Stock.
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Comprehensive Income and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income consists of net income and the after-tax impact of retirement liability adjustments. No income tax effect 
is recorded for currency translation adjustments.

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments $ (7,042) $ (7,156)
Retirement Liability Adjustment – Before Tax (10,868) (7,814)
Tax Benefit 2,282 1,641
Retirement Liability Adjustment – After Tax (8,586) (6,173)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss $ (15,628) $ (13,329)

The components of other comprehensive (loss) income are as follows:

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2017

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments $ 114 $ (2,691) $ 4,132
Retirement Liability Adjustment (3,054) 5,174 (2,377)
Tax (Expense) Benefit 641 (1,087) 387
Retirement Liability Adjustment (2,413) 4,087 (1,990)
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income $ (2,299) $ 1,396 $ 2,142

NOTE 15 — EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share computations are based upon the following table:

(In thousands, except per share data) 2019 2018 2017

Net Income $ 52,017 $ 46,803 $ 19,679
Basic Earnings Weighted Average Shares 32,028 32,351 32,874
Net Effect of Dilutive Stock Options 431 785 844
Diluted Earnings Weighted Average Shares 32,459 33,136 33,718
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 1.62 $ 1.45 $ 0.60
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 1.60 $ 1.41 $ 0.58

The above information has been adjusted to reflect the impact of the three-for-twenty distribution of Class B Stock for 
shareholders of record on October 12, 2018.

Stock options with exercise prices greater than the average market price of the underlying common shares are excluded from 
the computation of diluted earnings per share because they are out-of-the-money and the effect of their inclusion would be anti-
dilutive. The number of common shares excluded from the computation was approximately 0.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2019, 0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, and 0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

NOTE 16 — EQUITY COMPENSATION

The Company has equity compensation plans that authorize the issuance of restricted stock units or options for shares of 
Common Stock to directors, officers and key employees. Equity-based compensation is designed to reward long-term 
contributions to the Company and provide incentives for recipients to join and to remain with the Company. The exercise price 
of stock options, determined by a committee of the Board of Directors, may not be less than the fair market value of the 
Common Stock on the grant date. Options become exercisable over periods not exceeding ten years. The Company’s practice 
has been to issue new shares upon the exercise of the options.

The Company established Incentive Stock Option Plans for the purpose of attracting and retaining executive officers and key 
employees, and to align management’s interest with those of the shareholders. Generally, the options must be exercised within 
10 years from the grant date and vest ratably over a five-year period. The exercise price for the options is equal to the share 
price at the date of grant. At December 31, 2019, the Company had options outstanding for 603,184 shares under the plans. 
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The Company established the Directors Stock Option Plans for the purpose of attracting and retaining the services of 
experienced and knowledgeable outside directors, and to align their interest with those of the shareholders. The options must be 
exercised within ten years from the grant date. The exercise price for the option is equal to the share price at the date of grant 
and vests six months from the grant date. At December 31, 2019, the Company had options outstanding for 177,080 shares 
under the plans. 

During 2017, the Company established the Long Term Incentive Plan for the purpose of attracting and retaining directors, 
executive officers and key employees, and to align management's interest with those of the shareholders. The Plan contemplates 
the use of a mix of equity award types, and contains, with certain exceptions, a three-year pro-rata vesting schedule for time-
based awards. The Long Term Incentive Plan was amended on December 14, 2018 to provide a six-month pro-rata vesting 
schedule for directors. For stock options, the exercise price is equal to the share price on the date of grant. Upon inception, the 
remaining options available for future grant under the 2011 Incentive Stock Option Plan and the Directors Stock Option Plans 
were rolled in the Long Term Incentive Plan, and no further grants may be made out of those plans. At December 31, 2019, the 
Company had stock options and RSU's outstanding of 453,733 shares under the Long Term Incentive Plan, and there were 
1,305,613 shares available for future grant under this plan.

Stock compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the portion of share-based payment awards 
that is ultimately expected to vest during the period. Vesting requirements vary for directors, officers and key employees. In 
general, options granted to outside directors vest six months from the date of grant and options granted to officers and key 
employees straight line vest over a five-year period from the date of grant. RSUs granted to officers and key employees cliff 
vest three years from the date of grant.

The following table provides compensation expense information based on the fair value of stock options and RSU's for the 
years ended December 31 as follows:

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2017

Equity-based Compensation Expense $ 3,843 $ 3,098 $ 2,598
Tax Benefit (452) (179) (140)
Equity-based Compensation Expense, Net of Tax $ 3,391 $ 2,919 $ 2,458

Stock Options

2019 2018 2017

Weighted Average Fair Value of the Options Granted $ 11.93 $ 14.64 $ 15.30

The weighted average fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model 
with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2019 2018 2017

Risk-free Interest Rate 1.67% – 1.78% 2.63% – 2.87% 2.05% – 2.36%
Dividend Yield —% —% —%
Volatility Factor 0.39 0.39 0.40 – 0.41
Expected Life in Years 5.0 – 7.0 5.0 – 8.0 5.0 – 8.0

To determine expected volatility, the Company uses historical volatility based on weekly closing prices of its Common Stock 
and considers currently available information to determine if future volatility is expected to differ over the expected terms of the 
options granted. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve at the time of grant for the appropriate term of the 
options granted. Expected dividends are based on the Company’s history and expectation of dividend payouts. The expected 
term of stock options is based on vesting schedules, expected exercise patterns and contractual terms.

61



A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2019 2018 2017

(Aggregate intrinsic value in
thousands)

Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding at January 1 1,327,919 $ 18.13 $ 13,042 1,506,604 $ 14.65 $ 23,801 1,539,017 $ 12.91 $ 35,630
Options Granted 138,300 $ 30.04 $ (289) 120,270 $ 32.33 $ (226) 118,612 $ 33.40 $ 315
Options Exercised (313,326) $ 5.38 $ (7,072) (274,941) $ 3.89 $ (7,303) (131,904) $ 9.77 $ (3,467)
Options Forfeited (36,848) $ 21.56 $ (235) (24,014) $ 34.13 $ 88 (19,121) $ 24.27 $ (225)
Outstanding at December 31 1,116,045 $ 23.07 $ 5,446 1,327,919 $ 18.13 $ 16,360 1,506,604 $ 14.65 $ 32,253
Exercisable at December 31 802,873 $ 19.79 $ 6,551 1,043,596 $ 14.27 $ 16,885 1,252,315 $ 11.17 $ 31,177

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total pretax option holder’s intrinsic value, based on the 
Company’s closing stock price of Common Stock which would have been received by the option holders had all option holders 
exercised their options as of that date. The Company’s closing stock price of Common Stock was $27.95, $30.45 and $36.06 as 
of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The weighted average fair value of options vested during 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $15.91, $16.54 and $12.39, respectively. 
The total fair value of options that vested during the year amounted to $1.6 million, $1.4 million and $1.6 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At December 31, 2019, total compensation costs related to non-vested 
awards not yet recognized amounts to $5.2 million and will be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.34 years.

The following is a summary of weighted average exercise prices and contractual lives for outstanding and exercisable stock 
options as of December 31, 2019:

 Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise Price Range Shares

Weighted Average
Remaining Life

in Years

Weighted 
Average

Exercise Price Shares

Weighted Average
Remaining Life

in Years

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

$ 3.19 – $ 13.63 419,944 1.9 $ 9.58 419,944 1.9 $ 9.58
$ 22.69 – $ 35.82 677,848 7.3 $ 30.82 364,676 6.0 $ 30.25
$ 45.89 – $ 45.89 18,253 5.2 $ 45.89 18,253 5.2 $ 45.89

1,116,045 5.2 $ 23.07 802,873 3.8 $ 19.79

Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of each RSU granted is equal to the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant. The 
RSU’s cliff vest three years from the date of grant. There were 87,634 RSU’s granted in 2019 at a weighted-average price of 
$36.01, of which 17,776 awards were vested during 2019. Forfeitures during the year were insignificant. Included in total 
equity-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $1.6 million related to RSU's. At December 31, 
2019, total compensation costs related to non-vested awards not yet recognized amounts to $2.2 million and will be recognized 
over a weighted average period of approximately 2 years. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In addition to the stock options and RSU's discussed above, the Company has established the Employee Stock Purchase Plan to 
encourage employees to invest in Astronics Corporation. The plan provides employees the opportunity to invest up to the IRS 
annual maximum of approximately $25,000 in Astronics common stock at a price equal to 85% of the fair market value of the 
Astronics common stock, determined each October 1. Employees are allowed to enroll annually. Employees indicate the 
number of shares they wish to obtain through the program and their intention to pay for the shares through payroll deductions 
over the annual cycle of October 1 through September 30. Employees can withdraw anytime during the annual cycle, and all 
money withheld from the employees pay is returned with interest. If an employee remains enrolled in the program, enough 
money will have been withheld from the employees’ pay during the year to pay for all the shares that the employee opted for 
under the program. At December 31, 2019, employees had subscribed to purchase 133,979 shares at $24.75 per share. The 
weighted average fair value of the options was approximately $8.26, $8.48 and $5.15 for options granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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The fair value for the options granted under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2019 2018 2017

Risk-free Interest Rate 1.73 % 2.60 % 1.31 %
Dividend Yield — % — % — %
Volatility Factor 0.53 0.33 0.26
Expected Life in Years 1.0 1.0 1.0

NOTE 17 — FAIR VALUE

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, (“ASC Topic 820”) defines fair value, establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. This statement applies under other accounting 
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The statement indicates, among other things, that a fair value 
measurement assumes that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or 
liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. ASC Topic 820 defines 
fair value based upon an exit price model. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and involves consideration of factors specific to the asset or liability.

ASC Topic 820 establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to valuation used to measure fair value. This 
hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the 
financial instrument.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs based on our own assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair 
value.

On a Recurring Basis:

A financial asset or liability’s classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement. There were no financial assets or liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis at 
December 31, 2019 or 2018.

The terms of the Diagnosys acquisition allow for a potential earn-out of up to an additional $13.0 million over the next three 
years based on achievement of new order levels of over $72.0 million during that period. The fair value of this contingent 
consideration is estimated at $2.5 million as of December 31, 2019. The fair value assigned to the earn-out is determined using 
the real options method, which requires inputs such as new order forecasts, discount rate, volatility factors, and other market 
variables to assess the probability of Diagnosys achieving certain order levels over the period.

On a Non-recurring Basis:

In accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, the Company estimates the fair value 
of reporting units, utilizing unobservable Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs require significant management judgment due to the 
absence of quoted market prices or observable inputs for assets of a similar nature. The Company utilizes a discounted cash 
flow method to estimate the fair value of reporting units utilizing unobservable inputs. The fair value measurement of the 
reporting unit under the step-one analysis of the quantitative goodwill impairment test are classified as Level 3 inputs. In 2019, 
we performed quantitative assessments for the reporting units which had goodwill as of the first day of the fourth quarter, prior 
to the initiation of the AeroSat restructuring activities. Based on our quantitative assessment, the Company recorded a full 
impairment charge of approximately $1.6 million in the December 31, 2019 consolidated statement of operations associated 
with the AeroSat reporting unit. 

There were no impairment charges to goodwill in any of the Company’s reporting units in 2018. 

63



As a result of the annual goodwill impairment test for 2017, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $16.2 million 
related to the Armstrong reporting unit. The goodwill impairment was calculated as the amount by which the reporting unit's 
carrying value exceeded its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of goodwill.

Long-lived assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever adverse effects or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. The recoverability test consists of comparing the undiscounted projected cash flows 
with the carrying amount. Should the carrying amount exceed undiscounted projected cash flows, an impairment loss would be 
recognized to the extent the carrying amount exceeds fair value. In conjunction with the restructuring of AeroSat in 2019, the 
Company recorded impairment charges to long-lived assets including intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and ROU 
assets of approximately $9.5 million in the Consolidated Statement of Operations associated to the AeroSat reporting unit in 
conjunction with restructuring activities.

There were no impairment charges to any of the Company’s long-lived assets in either of the Company’s segments in 2018 or 
2017.

From time to time, the Company makes long-term, strategic equity investments in companies to promote business and strategic 
objectives. These investments are included in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. One of the investments 
incurred a full impairment charge which accounts for $5.0 million recorded within the Other Expense, Net of Other Income line 
in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019. This is a Level 3 
measurement as there were no observable price changes during the year.

The Freedom and Diagnosys intangible assets were valued using a discounted cash flow methodology, as of their respective 
acquisitions dates, and are classified as Level 3 inputs.

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of cash and equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and notes 
payable approximate fair value. The carrying value of the Company’s variable rate long-term debt instruments also 
approximates fair value due to the variable rate feature of these instruments.

NOTE 18 — SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table summarizes selected quarterly financial information for 2019 and 2018:

 Quarter Ended

(Unaudited) Dec. 31, Sep. 28, June 29, March 30, Dec. 31, Sep. 29, June 30, March 31,

(In thousands, except for per share data) 2019 2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018 2018

Sales $198,412 $ 177,018 $ 189,098 $ 208,174 $202,917 $212,674 $208,606 $ 179,059
Gross Profit (sales less cost of products sold) $ 26,908 $ 36,794 $ 40,363 $ 52,077 $ 47,672 $ 46,320 $ 49,572 $ 37,132
Impairment Loss $ 11,083 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Income Before Income Taxes $(43,282) $ 1,760 $ 8,830 $ 100,995 $ 15,594 $ 15,580 $ 17,182 $ 3,926
Net Income $(34,065) $ 1,210 $ 6,726 $ 78,146 $ 12,485 $ 16,999 $ 14,025 $ 3,294
Basic Earnings Per Share $ (1.10) $ 0.04 $ 0.21 $ 2.40 $ 0.38 $ 0.53 $ 0.43 $ 0.10
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ (1.10) $ 0.04 $ 0.20 $ 2.35 $ 0.37 $ 0.52 $ 0.42 $ 0.10

Information for 2019 includes the results of Freedom, acquired on July 1, 2019, and Diagnosys, acquired on October 4, 2019, 
each from the acquisition date forward. Information for 2019 reflects the divestiture of the semiconductor business on February 
13, 2019.

Additionally, several events occurred in the fourth quarter of 2019 which impacted the results as presented. Information 
included in 2019 is impacted by a significant increase to a legal reserve as well as restructuring, impairment and other charges 
as discussed in Note 19 and Note 23 in our consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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NOTE 19 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases certain facilities and equipment under various lease contracts with terms that meet the accounting 
definition of operating leases, as well as finance leases. Refer to Note 10 for additional information. 

Legal Proceedings

On December 29, 2010, Lufthansa Technik AG (“Lufthansa”) filed a Statement of Claim in the Regional State Court of 
Mannheim, Germany. Lufthansa’s claim asserted that a subsidiary of the Company, AES, sold, marketed, and brought into use 
in Germany a power supply system that infringes upon a German patent held by Lufthansa. Lufthansa sought an order requiring 
AES to stop selling and marketing the allegedly infringing power supply system, a recall of allegedly infringing products sold 
to commercial customers in Germany since November 26, 2003, and compensation for damages related to direct sales of the 
allegedly infringing power supply system in Germany (referred to as “direct sales”). The claim did not specify an estimate of 
damages and a related damages claim is being pursued by Lufthansa in separate court proceedings in an action filed in July 
2017, as further discussed below.

In February 2015, the Regional State Court of Mannheim, Germany rendered its decision that the patent was infringed. The 
judgment did not require AES to recall products that are already installed in aircraft or had been sold to other end users. On July 
15, 2015, Lufthansa advised AES of their intention to enforce the accounting provisions of the decision, which required AES to 
provide certain financial information regarding direct sales of the infringing product in Germany to enable Lufthansa to make 
an estimate of requested damages. 

The Company appealed to the Higher Regional Court of Karlsruhe. On November 15, 2016, the Higher Regional Court of 
Karlsruhe issued its ruling and upheld the lower court’s decision. The Company submitted a petition to grant AES leave for 
appeal to the German Federal Supreme Court. On April 18, 2018, the German Federal Supreme Court granted Astronics’ 
petition in part, namely with respect to the part concerning the amount of damages. On January 8, 2019, the German Federal 
Supreme Court held the hearing on the appeal. By judgment of March 26, 2019, the German Federal Supreme Court dismissed 
AES's appeal. With this decision, the above-mentioned proceedings are complete.

In July 2017, Lufthansa filed an action in the Regional State Court of Mannheim for payment of damages caused by the court’s 
decision that AES infringed the patent, specifically related to direct sales of the product into Germany (associated with the 
original December 2010 action discussed above). In this action, which was served to AES on April 11, 2018, Lufthansa claimed 
payment of approximately $6.2 million plus interest. An oral hearing was held on September 13, 2019. A first instance decision 
is in this matter was handed down on December 6, 2019. According to this ruling, Lufthansa was awarded damages in the 
amount of approximately $3.2 million plus interest. Inclusive of interest, this equates to approximately $4.5 million through 
December 31, 2019. Interest will continue to accrue at a statutory rate until final payment to Lufthansa. In February 2020 we 
received notice that Lufthansa’s intention is to provide a security and to enforce payment on the first instance judgment. If 
Lufthansa provides a security deposit in a sufficient amount, as they have stated is their intention, the Company will be required 
to remit the payment. Based on this information, we believe payment for damages and interest on the direct sales claim will be 
required in 2020. AES has appealed this decision and the appeal is currently pending before the Higher Regional Court of 
Karlsruhe. If the first instance judgment is later reversed on appeal, the Company could reclaim any amounts that the court 
determines to be “excessive”, but there can be no assurances that we will be successful on such appeal. Prior to 2019, the 
Company had accrued $1.0 million related to this matter. As a result of the judgment on direct sales into Germany, the 
Company has reflected an incremental reserve of $3.5 million in its December 31, 2019 financial statements related to this 
matter, for a total reserve of $4.5 million.

On December 29, 2017, Lufthansa filed another infringement action against AES in the Regional State Court of Mannheim 
claiming that sales by AES to its international customers have infringed Lufthansa's patent if AES's customers later shipped the 
products to Germany (referred to as “indirect sales”). This action, therefore, addresses sales other than those covered by the 
action filed on December 29, 2010, discussed above. In this action, served on April 11, 2018, Lufthansa sought an order 
obliging AES to provide information and accounting and a finding that AES owes damages for the attacked indirect sales. 
Moreover, Lufthansa sought accounting and a finding that the sale of individual components of the EmPower system – either 
directly to Germany or to international customers if these customers later shipped products to Germany – constitutes an indirect 
patent infringement of Lufthansa's patent in Germany. In addition, Lufthansa sought an order obliging AES to confirm by an 
affidavit that the accounting provided in September 2015 was accurate and a finding that AES is also liable for damages for the 
sale of modified products if the modification of the products was not communicated to all subsequent buyers of the products. 
No amount of claimed damages has been specified by Lufthansa.

An oral hearing in this matter was held on September 13, 2019, as part of the oral hearing for the direct sales damages claim 
discussed above. A first instance decision in this matter was handed down on December 6, 2019. According to this judgment, 
Lufthansa's claims were granted in part. The court granted Lufthansa's claims for a finding that indirect sales (as defined above) 
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by AES to international customers constitute a patent infringement under the conditions specified in the judgment and that the 
sale of components of the EmPower system to Germany constitutes an indirect patent infringement. Moreover, the Court 
granted Lufthansa's request for an affidavit confirming that the accounting provided in September 2015 was accurate. The Court 
rejected Lufthansa's request for a finding that AES is also liable for damages for the sale of modified products as inadmissible. 
This is relevant, as it provides that once AES modified the system to remove the infringing feature, any subsequent outlets are 
deemed not to be infringing outlets for purposes of calculating damages. AES and Lufthansa both appealed this decision and the 
appeal is currently pending before the Higher Regional Court of Karlsruhe. The appeal is not likely to be settled in 2020.

If the decision is confirmed on appeal, this would mean that AES would be responsible for payment of damages for indirect 
sales of patent-infringing EmPower in-seat power supply systems in the period from December 29, 2007 to May 22, 2018. AES 
modified the outlet units at the end of 2014 and the modified outlet units sold from 2015 do not infringe the patent of Lufthansa. 
Since only sales of systems comprising patent-infringing outlet units trigger damages claims, the period for which AES is liable 
for damages in connection with indirect sales finished at the end of 2014.

After the accounting, Lufthansa is expected to enforce its claim for damages in separate court proceedings. These proceedings 
would probably be tried before the Mannheim Court again, which makes it probable that the Mannheim court will determine the 
damages for the indirect sales on the basis of the same principles as in the direct sales proceedings. Based on the information 
available currently, we estimate that the resulting damages would be approximately $11.6 million plus approximately $4.5 
million of accrued interest at the end of 2019, for a total of approximately $16.1 million. Similar to the direct sales claim, 
interest will accrue at a rate of 5% above the European Central Bank rate until final payment to Lufthansa.

Based upon the determination of the damages in the direct sales claim discussed above, in the December 31, 2019 consolidated 
financial statements, we have reflected a total accrual (inclusive of interest through December 31, 2019) of $4.5 million related 
to the direct sales claim, and $16.1 million related to the indirect sales claim as management’s best estimate of the total 
exposure related to these matters that is probable and that can be reasonably estimated at this time. Expenses recorded in 2019 
related to these claims ($3.5 million related to the direct sales claim and $16.1 million related to the indirect sales claim) have 
been recorded within Selling, General and Administrative Expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
We estimate that payment for the damages and related interest of the direct sales claim will be paid before December 31, 2020, 
therefore the liability related to this matter, totaling $4.5 million, is classified within Other Accrued Expenses (current) in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2019. In connection with the indirect sales claims, we currently believe it is 
unlikely that the appeals process will be completed and the damages and related interest will be paid before December 31, 2020. 
Therefore the liability related to this matter, totaling $16.1 million, is classified within Other Liabilities (non-current) in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2019.

In December 2017, Lufthansa filed patent infringement cases in the UK and in France against AES. The Lufthansa patent 
expired in May 2018. In those cases, Lufthansa accuses AES of having manufactured, used, sold and offered for sale a power 
supply system, and offered and supplied parts for a power supply system that infringed upon a Lufthansa patent in those 
respective countries. In the UK matter, a trial has been scheduled for June 2020 to address the issues of infringement and 
validity. 

The France and UK claims are separate and apart from the claims in Germany and validity and infringement of the Lufthansa 
patent will first need to be determined by the courts in these countries, whose laws differ from those in Germany. Also the 
principles of calculating damages in German patent infringement proceedings differ substantially from the calculation methods 
in the UK and France. Therefore the Company has assessed this separate from the German claims. However, it reasonably 
possible that additional damages and interest could be incurred if the courts in France and the UK were to rule in favor of 
Lufthansa, but at this time we cannot reasonably estimate the range of loss. As loss exposure is neither probable nor estimable 
at this time, the Company has not recorded any liability with respect to these matters as of December 31, 2019.

On November 26, 2014, Lufthansa filed a complaint in the United States District for the Western District of Washington. 
Lufthansa’s complaint in that action alleges that AES manufactures, uses, sells and offers for sale a power supply system that 
infringes upon a U.S. patent held by Lufthansa. The patent at issue in the U.S. action is based on technology similar to that 
involved in the German action. On April 25, 2016, the Court issued its ruling on claim construction, holding that the sole 
independent claim in the patent is indefinite, rendering all claims in the patent indefinite. Based on this ruling, AES filed a 
motion for summary judgment on the grounds that the Court’s ruling that the patent is indefinite renders the patent invalid and 
unenforceable. On July 20, 2016, the U.S. District Court granted the motion for summary judgment and issued an order 
dismissing all claims against AES with prejudice.

Lufthansa appealed the District Court's decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On October 19, 
2017, the Federal Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision, holding that the sole independent claim of the patent is 
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indefinite, rending all claims on the patent indefinite. Lufthansa did not file a petition for en banc rehearing or petition the U.S. 
Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari. Therefore, there is no longer a risk of exposure from that lawsuit.

Other than these proceedings, we are not party to any significant pending legal proceedings that management believes will 
result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

NOTE 20 — SEGMENTS

Segment information and reconciliations to consolidated amounts for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2017

Sales:
Aerospace $ 692,614 $ 675,744 $ 534,724
Less Inter-segment Sales (5) (119) (121)
Total Aerospace Sales 692,609 675,625 534,603

Test Systems 80,495 127,679 89,861
Less Inter-segment Sales (402) (48) —
Test Systems 80,093 127,631 89,861

Total Consolidated Sales $ 772,702 $ 803,256 $ 624,464
Operating Profit and Margins:

Aerospace $ 16,657 $ 69,761 $ 38,888
2.4 % 10.3 % 7.3 %

Test Systems 4,494 10,718 7,359
5.6 % 8.4 % 8.2 %

Total Operating Profit $ 21,151 $ 80,479 $ 46,247
2.7 % 10.0 % 7.4 %

Additions to (Deductions from) Operating Profit:
Net Gain on Sale of Businesses $ 78,801 $ — $ —
Interest Expense, Net of Interest Income (6,141) (9,710) (5,369)
Corporate and Other Expenses, Net (25,508) (18,487) (15,887)

Income before Income Taxes $ 68,303 $ 52,282 $ 24,991
Depreciation and Amortization:

Aerospace $ 27,879 $ 29,947 $ 22,111
Test Systems 4,534 4,500 4,302
Corporate 636 585 650

Total Depreciation and Amortization $ 33,049 $ 35,032 $ 27,063
Assets:

Aerospace $ 629,371 $ 647,870 $ 621,047
Test Systems 110,994 97,056 90,859
Corporate 42,351 29,714 24,050

Total Assets $ 782,716 $ 774,640 $ 735,956
Capital Expenditures:

Aerospace $ 11,552 $ 14,680 $ 10,656
Test Systems 380 1,370 2,721
Corporate 151 267 101

Total Capital Expenditures $ 12,083 $ 16,317 $ 13,478

Operating profit is sales less cost of products sold and other operating expenses, excluding interest expense and other corporate 
expenses. Cost of products sold and other operating expenses are directly identifiable to the respective segment.
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For the year ended December, 31 2019, there was a goodwill impairment loss of $1.6 million and intangible asset impairment 
of $6.2 million recorded in the Aerospace segment. In 2018, there were no goodwill or purchased intangible asset impairment 
losses in either the Aerospace or Test System segment. In 2017, there was a goodwill impairment loss of $16.2 million recorded 
in the Aerospace segment. In the Aerospace segment, goodwill amounted to $123.0 million and $125.0 million at December 31, 
2019 and 2018, respectively. In the Test Systems segment, goodwill amounted to $21.9 million as of December 31, 2019. There 
was no goodwill in the Test Systems segment as of December 31, 2018.

The following table summarizes the Company’s sales into the following geographic regions for the years ended December 31:

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2017

United States $ 583,589 $ 575,830 $ 482,219
North America (excluding United States) 12,585 10,834 6,198
Asia 40,764 112,135 58,732
Europe 130,227 98,193 73,677
South America 862 1,973 1,280
Other 4,675 4,291 2,358
Total $ 772,702 $ 803,256 $ 624,464

The following table summarizes the Company’s property, plant and equipment by country for the years ended December 31:

(In thousands) 2019 2018

United States $ 101,169 $ 110,738
France 8,740 9,241
India 1,509 —
Canada 1,081 883
Total $ 112,499 $ 120,862

Sales recorded by the Company’s foreign operations were $85.9 million, $70.6 million and $53.9 million in 2019, 2018 and 
2017, respectively. Net income from these locations was $8.6 million, $5.5 million and $2.2 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. Net assets held outside of the U.S. total $66.4 million and $45.0 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. The exchange loss included in determining net income was insignificant in 2019 and 2018. Cumulative translation 
adjustments amounted to $(7.0) million and $(7.2) million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Company has a significant concentration of business with two major customers; The Boeing Company (“Boeing”) and 
Panasonic Aviation Corporation (“Panasonic”). The following is information relating to the activity with those customers:

2019 2018 2017

Percent of Consolidated Sales
Boeing 13.6% 14.3% 16.8%
Panasonic 13.0% 14.4% 19.1%

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Accounts Receivable at December 31,
Boeing $ 21,806 $ 24,649
Panasonic $ 15,831 $ 14,994

Sales to Boeing and Panasonic are primarily in the Aerospace segment.

NOTE 21 — ACQUISITIONS

Diagnosys Inc. and its affiliates

On October 4, 2019, the Company acquired the stock of the primary operating subsidiaries as well as certain other assets from 
mass transit and defense market test solution provider, Diagnosys Test Systems Limited for $7.0 million in cash, plus an earn-
out estimated at a fair value of $2.5 million. The terms of the acquisition allow for a potential earn-out of up to an additional 
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$13.0 million over the next three years based on achievement of new order levels of over $72.0 million during that period. The 
acquired business has operations in Westford, Massachusetts as well as Ferndown, England, and an engineering center of 
excellence in Bangalore, India. Diagnosys is included in our Test Systems segment. Diagnosys is a developer and manufacturer 
of comprehensive automated test equipment providing test, support, and repair of high value electronics, electro-mechanical, 
pneumatic and printed circuit boards focused on the global mass transit and defense markets.

The purchase price allocation for this acquisition has not yet been finalized. Purchased intangible assets and goodwill are not 
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. This transaction was not considered material to the Company’s financial position or 
results of operations.

Freedom Communication Technologies, Inc.

On July 1, 2019, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Freedom Communication 
Technologies, Inc. Freedom, located in Kilgore, Texas, is a leader in wireless communication testing, primarily for the civil 
land mobile radio market. Freedom is included in our Test Systems segment. The total consideration for the transaction was 
$21.8 million, net of $0.6 million in cash acquired. The purchase price allocation for this acquisition has not yet been finalized. 
Purchased intangible assets and goodwill are not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. This transaction was not 
considered material to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Astronics Connectivity Systems and Certification Corp.

On December 1, 2017, Astronics completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Telefonix Inc., 
including 100% of the stock of a related company, Product Development Technologies, LLC and its subsidiaries. The combined 
group designs and manufactures advanced in-flight entertainment and connectivity equipment, and provides industry leading 
design consultancy services for the global aerospace industry. The company’s products include wireless access points, file 
servers, content loaders, passenger control units and cord reels, as well as engineering services for its customers. We purchased 
the assets of these companies for $103.8 million, net of $0.2 million in cash acquired. All of the goodwill and purchased 
intangible assets are expected to be deductible for tax purposes over 15 years. The acquired companies are included in our 
Aerospace reporting segment. Adjustments made to the preliminary purchase price valuation during the measurement period 
were not significant. The purchase price allocation for this acquisition has been finalized.

The following is a summary of the sales and amounts included in income from operations for CSC included in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company from the date of acquisition to December 31, 2017 (in thousands):

Sales $ 6,174
Operating Loss $ (499)

The following summary, prepared on a pro forma basis, combines the consolidated results of operations of the Company with 
those of CSC as if the acquisition took place on January 1, 2017. The pro forma consolidated results include the impact of 
certain adjustments, including increased interest expense on acquisition debt, amortization of purchased intangible assets and 
income taxes.

Unaudited

(In thousands, except earnings per share) 2017

Sales $ 683,541
Net income $ 18,302
Basic earnings per share $ 0.56
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.54

The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what actually would have occurred if the acquisition had been in effect 
for the year ended December 31, 2017. In addition, they are not intended to be a projection of future results.
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Astronics Custom Control Concepts, Inc.

On April 3, 2017, Astronics Custom Control Concepts Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired substantially 
all the assets and certain liabilities of Custom Control Concepts LLC (“CCC”), located in Kent, Washington. CCC is a provider 
of cabin management and in-flight entertainment systems for a range of aircraft. The total consideration for the transaction was 
$10.2 million, net of $0.5 million in cash acquired. All of the goodwill and purchased intangible assets are expected to be 
deductible for tax purposes over 15 years. CCC is included in our Aerospace segment. The purchase price allocation for this 
acquisition has been finalized.

NOTE 22 — DIVESTITURE ACTIVITIES

Semiconductor Test Business

As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan to sell the semiconductor test business within the 
Test Systems segment. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities associated with these operations have been classified as held for 
sale in the accompanying consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2018. The carrying value of the disposal group was 
lower than its fair value, less costs to sell, and accordingly, no impairment loss was required at December 31, 2018. 

The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities held for sale as of December 31:

(In thousands) 2018

Assets Held for Sale
Inventories $ 14,385
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 87
Net Property, Plant and Equipment 3,521
Other Assets 714
Intangible Assets, Net of Accumulated Amortization 651

Total Assets Held for Sale $ 19,358

Liabilities Held for Sale
Deferred Income Taxes $ 906

On February 13, 2019, the Company completed the divestiture. The business was not core to the future of the Test Systems 
segment. The total proceeds received for the sale amounted to $103.8 million. The Company recorded a pre-tax gain on the sale 
of approximately $80.1 million in the first quarter of 2019. The income tax expense relating to the gain was $19.7 million.

The transaction also includes two elements of contingent earnouts. The First Earnout is calculated based on a multiple of all 
future sales of existing and certain future derivative products to existing and future customers in each annual period from 2019 
through 2022. The First Earnout may not exceed $35.0 million in total. The Second Earnout is calculated based on a multiple of 
future sales related to an existing product and program with an existing customer exceeding an annual threshold for each annual 
period from 2019 through 2022. The Second Earnout is not capped. For the Second Earnout, if the applicable sales in an annual 
period do not exceed the annual threshold, no amounts will be paid relative to such annual period; the sales in such annual 
period do not carry over to the next annual period. Due to the degree of uncertainty associated with estimating the future sales 
levels of the divested business and its underlying programs, and the lack of reliable predictive market information, the 
Company will recognize such earnout proceeds, if received, as additional gain on sale when such proceeds are realized or 
realizable. No amounts were payable to the Company under the First Earnout.

Airfield Lighting Product Line

On July 12, 2019, the Company sold intellectual property and certain assets associated with its Airfield Lighting product line 
for $1.0 million in cash. The Airfield Lighting product line, part of the Aerospace segment, was not core to the business and 
represented less than 1% of revenue. The Company recorded a pre-tax loss on the sale of approximately $1.3 million. This 
amount is reported in the Consolidated Condensed Statement of Operations in Net Gain on Sales of Businesses in the year 
ended December 31, 2019.
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As of December 31, 2019, the Company has agreed to sell certain facilities within the Aerospace segment. Accordingly, the 
property, plant and equipment assets associated with these facilities of $1.5 million have been classified as held for sale in the 
consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2019.

NOTE 23 — RESTRUCTURING, IMPAIRMENTS AND OTHER CHARGES

Antenna Business Impairment and Restructuring

In 2019, we performed quantitative assessments for the reporting units which had goodwill as of the first day of the fourth 
quarter, prior to the initiation of the antenna business restructuring activities. Based on our quantitative assessment, the 
Company recorded a full goodwill impairment charge of approximately $1.6 million in the December 31, 2019 Consolidated 
Statement of Operations associated with the AeroSat reporting unit.

In the fourth quarter of 2019, in an effort to reduce the significant operating losses at our AeroSat business, we initiated a 
restructuring plan to reduce costs and minimize losses of our AeroSat antenna business. The plan narrows the initiatives for the 
AeroSat business to focus primarily on near-term opportunities pertaining to business jet connectivity. The plan has a 
downsized manufacturing operation remaining in New Hampshire, with significantly reduced personnel and operating 
expenses. 

As a result of the restructuring plan, the Company's total impairments and restructuring charges recorded in the fourth quarter of 
2019 (including the goodwill impairment described above) amounted to $28.8 million, all of which is included in the Aerospace 
segment. Any future restructuring actions will depend upon market conditions, customer actions and other factors.

A summary of the restructuring, impairment and other charges, and their location on the Consolidated Statement of Operations, 
are presented as of December 31, 2019:

Restructuring Charges

(In thousands) Cost of Products Sold
Selling, General and 

Administrative Impairment Loss Amounts

Accounts Receivable, Net $ — $ 1,785 $ — $ 1,785
Inventories 9,429 — — 9,429
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 1,227 — — 1,227
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net — — 2,268 2,268
Other Assets — 122 1,019 1,141
Intangible Assets, Net — — 6,186 6,186
Goodwill — — 1,610 1,610
Accrued Payroll and Employee Benefits — 449 — 449
Other Accrued Expenses 164 — — 164
Other Liabilities 4,577 — — 4,577

$ 15,397 $ 2,356 $ 11,083 $ 28,836

The charge to Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets is comprised of prepaid installation fees associated with programs 
that were either cancelled or are no longer being pursued as a result of the restructuring. The charge to Other Assets is 
comprised of the right-of-use asset values for the AeroSat facility lease. The charge to Accrued Payroll and Employee Benefits 
is comprised of employee termination benefits expected to be paid in 2020. The charge to Other Accrued Expenses and Other 
Liabilities represents the estimated current and non-current portions of payments to be made under non-cancelable inventory 
purchase commitments in the future for inventory which is not expected to be purchased prior to the expiration date of such 
agreements as a result of the restructuring plan. None of the restructuring or impairment charges resulted in the utilization of 
cash during 2019.

Financial Instrument Impairment

From time to time, the Company makes long-term, strategic equity investments in companies to promote business and strategic 
objectives. These investments are included in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. One of the investments 
incurred a full impairment charge which accounts for $5.0 million recorded within the Other Expense, Net of Other Income line 
in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
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Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of Company Management, including 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e). Based on that evaluation, the 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of 
the end of the period covered by this report, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted 
under the Exchange Act is made known to them on a timely basis, and that these disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective to ensure such information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
Commission’s rules and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

See the report appearing under Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplemental Data, Managements Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information regarding directors is contained under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Security Ownership of Certain 
Beneficial Owners and Management” and is incorporated herein by reference to the 2020 Proxy to be filed within 120 days of 
the end of our fiscal year is incorporated herein by reference.

The executive officers of the Company, their ages, their positions and offices with the Company, and the date each assumed 
their office with the Company as of December 31, 2019, are as follows:

Name and Age of Executive Officer Positions and Offices with Astronics
 
 

Year First
Elected Officer

Peter J. Gundermann
Age 57

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of 
the Company

 
 2001

David C. Burney
Age 57

Executive Vice President, Secretary and Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company

 
 2003

Mark A. Peabody
Age 60

Astronics Advanced Electronic Systems President 
and Executive Vice President of Astronics 
Corporation

 
 

2010

James S. Kramer
Age 56

Luminescent Systems Inc. President and Executive 
Vice President of Astronics Corporation

 
 2010

James F. Mulato
Age 59

President of Astronics Test Systems, Inc. and 
Executive Vice President of Astronics Corporation 2019

Michael C. Kuehn
Age 59

Astronics Connectivity Systems & Certification 
Corp. and Armstrong Aerospace, Inc. President and 
Executive Vice President of Astronics Corporation

2019

The principal occupation and employment for Messrs. Gundermann, Burney, Kramer, Mulato and Peabody for the past five 
years has been with the Company in their respective current roles.

Mr. Kuehn and Mr. Mulato became Executive Vice Presidents of the Company on January 1, 2019.

Mr. Kuehn has been the President of Astronics Connectivity Systems & Certification Corp. (“ACSC”) since its acquisition by 
the Company in 2017, and the President of Armstrong Aerospace, Inc. since 2018. Prior to acquisition, Mr. Kuehn ran the 
ACSC business as President of Telefonix, Incorporated for eight years. 

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer as well as other directors, officers and employees of the Company. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is 
available upon request without charge by contacting Astronics Corporation at (716) 805-1599. The Code of Business Conduct 
and Ethics is also available on the Investors section of the Company’s website at www.astronics.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information contained under the caption “Executive Compensation” and “Summary Compensation Table” in the 
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year is incorporated herein by 
reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information contained under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters” and “Executive Compensation” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days 
of the end of our fiscal year is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information contained under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence” and 
“Proposal One: Election of Directors” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days of the end of 
our fiscal year is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information contained under the caption “Audit and Non-Audit Fees” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be 
filed within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

 

a. The documents filed as a part of this report are as follows:

1. The following financial statements are included:

i. Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 
ii. Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2019, 

2018 and 2017
iii. Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
iv. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 
v. Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 

and 2017 
vi. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

vii. Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
viii. Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

2.  Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other consolidated financial statement schedules are omitted because they are inapplicable, not required, or the 
information is included elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
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Exhibit
No.  Description

3 (a)  Restated Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2013 Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, Exhibit 3(a), filed March 7, 2014 (File No. 000-07087). 

(b)  By-Laws, as amended, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
Exhibit 3(b), filed March 11, 2009 (File No. 000-07087).

(c)  Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of Astronics Corporation, incorporated by 
reference to the registrant’s Form 8-K, Exhibit 3.1, filed July 1, 2016 (File No. 000-07087).

10.1*  Restated Thrift and Profit Sharing Retirement Plan, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2010 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.1, filed March 3, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.2*  2001 Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
Exhibit 10.4, filed March 3, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.3*  Non-Qualified Supplemental Retirement Plan, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.5, filed March 3, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.4*  Employment Termination Benefits Agreement dated December 16, 2003 between Astronics Corporation 
and Peter J. Gundermann, President and Chief Executive Officer of Astronics Corporation, incorporated by 
reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.6, filed March 3, 2011 (File 
No. 000-07087).

10.5*  Employment Termination Benefits Agreement dated December 16, 2003 between Astronics Corporation 
and David C. Burney, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Astronics Corporation, incorporated 
by reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.7, filed March 3, 2011 (File 
No. 000-07087).

10.6*  2005 Director Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.8, filed March 3, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.7*  Supplemental Retirement Plan, Amended and Restated, March 6, 2012, incorporated by reference to the 
registrant’s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.10, filed February 22, 2013 (File No. 
000-07087).

10.8*  First Amendment of the Employment Termination Benefits Agreement dated December 30, 2008 between 
Astronics Corporation and Peter J. Gundermann, President and Chief Executive Officer of Astronics, 
incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.11, filed 
March 11, 2009 (File No. 000-07087).

10.9* First Amendment of the Employment Termination Benefits Agreement dated December 30, 2008 between 
Astronics Corporation and David C. Burney, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Astronics 
Corporation, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 
10.12, filed March 11, 2009 (File No. 000-07087).

10.10* Employment Termination Benefits Agreement Dated February 18, 2005 between Astronics Corporation 
and Mark A. Peabody, Executive Vice President of Astronics Advanced Electronic Systems, Inc., 
incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.13, filed 
March 3, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.11* First Amendment of the Employment Termination Benefits Agreement dated December 31, 2008 between 
Astronics Corporation and Mark A. Peabody, Executive Vice President of Astronics Advanced Electronic 
Systems, Inc., incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 
10.14, filed March 3, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.12* Form of Indemnification Agreement as executed by each of Astronics Corporation’s Directors and 
Executive Officers, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
Exhibit 10.15, filed March 3, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.13* 2011 Employee Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s Form S-8, Exhibit 4.1 filed 
on August 4, 2011 (File No. 000-07087).

10.14* Supplemental Retirement Plan II, incorporated by reference to the registrant’s 2012 Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.18, filed February 22, 2013 (File No. 000-07087).
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10.15* Astronics Corporation 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference as Exhibit A to the 
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, as filed with the Commission on April 17, 
2017).

10.16 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 16, 2017 by and between UJB Acquisition Corp. and Custom 
Control Concepts LLC filed as Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K filed on April 6, 2017 (File No. 000-07087).

10.17 Asset Purchase Agreement entered as of October 26, 2017, by and among Talon Acquisition 
Corp., Telefonix, Incorporated, Product Development Technologies, LLC, and Paul Burke filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2017 (File No. 000-07087).

10.18 Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement entered into by and among Astronics Corporation, HSBC 
Bank USA, National Association, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith 
Inc., and Suntrust Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2018 (File No. 
000-07087).

10.19 Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of February 13, 2019 by and Among Astronics 
Test Systems, Inc., Astronics Corporation and Advantest Test Solutions, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 on 
Form 8-K filed on February 19, 2019 (File No. 000-07087).

10.20 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of July 1, 2019, among Astronics Corporation, Freedom 
Communication Technologies, the Sellers and Hanover Partners, filed as Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K Filed 
on July 1, 2019 (File No. 000-07087)

10.21 Amendment to the Astronics Corporation 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan, dated December 14, 2018.

21** Subsidiaries of the Registrant; filed herewith.

23** Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm; filed herewith.

31.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) as adopted pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; filed herewith.

31.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) as adopted pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; filed herewith.

32** Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002; filed herewith.

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

 
* Identifies a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement as required by Item 15(a) (3) of Form 10-K.

** Submitted electronically herewith
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SCHEDULE II

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Year Description

Balance at the
Beginning of

Period
Additions Charged to 

Cost and Expense
Write-Offs/

Other

Balance at
End of
Period

(In thousands)      

2019 Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 1,486 $ 2,144 $ (71) $ 3,559
Reserve for Inventory Valuation 20,826 14,803 (2,023) 33,606
Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance 8,098 5,205 — 13,303

2018 Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 960 $ 589 $ (63) $ 1,486
Reserve for Inventory Valuation 18,013 2,682 131 20,826
Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance 7,823 275 — 8,098

2017 Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 602 $ 87 $ 271 $ 960
Reserve for Inventory Valuation 15,410 2,885 (282) 18,013
Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance 3,816 4,007 — 7,823
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned; thereunto duly authorized, on March 2, 2020.

Astronics Corporation  

By  /s/ Peter J. Gundermann  By  /s/ David C. Burney
Peter J. Gundermann President and Chief Executive 
Officer  

David C. Burney, Executive Vice President, Chief 
Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  
 

Title  Date

/s/ Peter J. Gundermann  President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
March 2, 2020

Peter J. Gundermann   

/s/ David C. Burney  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
March 2, 2020

David C. Burney   

/s/ Nancy L. Hedges  
Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting Officer

 
March 2, 2020

Nancy L. Hedges   

/s/ Raymond W. Boushie   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020
Raymond W. Boushie   

/s/ Robert T. Brady   
Director

 
March 2, 2020

Robert T. Brady   

/s/ Tonit Calaway   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020
Tonit Calaway   

/s/ Jeffry D. Frisby   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020
Jeffry D. Frisby   

/s/ Peter J. Gundermann   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020
Peter J. Gundermann   

/s/ Warren C. Johnson   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020
Warren C. Johnson   

/s/ Robert S. Keane   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020Robert S. Keane  
  

/s/ Neil Kim   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020Neil Kim  
  

/s/ Mark J. Moran   
 

Director
 

March 2, 2020
Mark J. Moran   
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION        
  

Corporate Headquarters 

Astronics Corporation 

130 Commerce Way 

East Aurora, New York 14052      

716.805.1599 

www.astronics.com 

 

2020 Annual Meeting 

Astronics Corporation’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders 

will be held at 10:00 am ET on May, 21, 2020 at 

Astronics Connectivity Systems and Certification Corp.  

804 S. Northpoint Blvd 

Waukegan, IL  60085 

Investor Relations 

Investors, stockbrokers, security analysts and others 

seeking information about Astronics Corporation should 

contact: 

David C. Burney 

Chief Financial Officer 

716.805.1599 

invest@astronics.com 

Deborah K. Pawlowski  

Kei Advisors LLC 

716.843.3908 

dpawlowski@keiadvisors.com 

 

Transfer Agent 

For services, such as reporting a change of address, 

replacement of lost stock certificates, conversion of  

Class B shares, changes in registered ownership, or  

for inquiries about your account, contact: 

EQ Shareowner Services 

1110 Centre Pointe Curve, Suite 101 

Mendota Heights, MN 55120 

Tel: 800.468.9716 

       651.450.4064 

www.shareowneronline.com 

 

Attorneys 

Hodgson Russ LLP 

Buffalo, New York 

 

Independent Auditors 

Ernst & Young LLP 

Buffalo, New York

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP 

Peter J. Gundermann  

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,  

Astronics Corporation 

David C. Burney 

Executive Vice President- Finance and Chief Financial Officer, 

Astronics Corporation 

James S. Kramer 

Executive Vice President, Astronics Corporation;  

President, Astronics Luminescent Systems, Inc. 

Michael C. Kuehn 

Executive Vice President, Astronics Corporation;  

President, Astronics Connectivity Systems and Certification 

Corporation 

James F. Mulato 

Executive Vice President, Astronics Corporation;  

President, Astronics Test Systems, Inc. 

Mark A. Peabody 

Executive Vice President, Astronics Corporation;  

President, Astronics Advanced Electronic Systems Corporation 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Peter J. Gundermann 

President and Chief Executive Officer, Astronics Corporation  

Chairman of the Board, Astronics Corporation 

Raymond W. Boushie 1, 2C 

President and Chief Executive Officer, retired,  

Crane Aerospace and Electronics 

Robert T. Brady 1C, 3 

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of the Board, 

retired, Moog Inc. 

Tonit Calaway2, 3 

Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary, 

BorgWarner Inc. 

Jeffry D. Frisby 1, 3C 

President and Chief Executive Officer, PCX Aerostructures, LLC; 

former President and Chief Executive Officer, Triumph Group Inc. 

Warren C. Johnson 2, 3 

President, retired, Aircraft Group for Moog, Inc. 

Robert Keane 1, 2 

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Cimpress plc 

Neil Kim 1, 2 

Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer, retired,  

Marvell Technology Group Ltd. 

Mark Moran 2, 3 

Chief Operations Officer, retired,  

Continental Airlines 

1 Audit Committee 2 Compensation Committee  
3 Nominating/Governance Committee C Committee Chairman 
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